THE DEGREE OF BACTERIAL CONTAMINATION OF OPERATING ROOMS **ANTIBIOTIC** AND **SURGICAL** WARDS ENVIRONMENT AND SUSCEPTIBILITY PATTERN OF ISOLATES AT JIMMA UNIVERSITY SPECIALIZED HOSPITAL, SOUTH WEST ETHIOPIA

BY: CHALACHEW GENET AKAL (BSc in MLT)

A MASTERS THESIS TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL LABORATORY SCIENCES AND PATHOLOGY, COLLEGE OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND MEDICAL SCIENCES, JIMMA UNIVERSITY FOR THE PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE DEGREE OF MASTERS OF SCIENCE **IN MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY** 

**MAY, 2010** JIMMA, ETHIOPIA

## THE DEGREE OF BACTERIAL CONTAMINATION OF OPERATING ROOMS AND SURGICAL WARDS ENVIRONMENT AND ANTIBIOTIC SUSCEPTIBILITY PATTERN OF ISOLATES AT JIMMA UNIVERSITY SPECIALIZED HOSPITAL, SOUTH WEST ETHIOPIA

## BY: CHALACHEW GENET AKAL (BSc in MLT)<sup>1</sup>

## **ADVISORS**:

- 1. GEBRE KIBRU (BSc, MSc)<sup>2</sup>
- 2. KANNAN HEMALATHA (MSc, Ph.D)<sup>3</sup>

MAY 25, 2010 G.C JIMMA, ETHIOPIA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Candidate MSc student

E-mail: chaliedallas@yahoo.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Lecturer, Department of Medical Laboratory Sciences and Pathology (Jimma University)

E-mail: gtiga@yahoo.co.uk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Assistant professor, Department of Medical Laboratory Sciences and Pathology (Jimma University) E-mail: <u>hema\_paramesh@yahoo.com</u>

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to express my gratitude to my advisors Mr. Gebre Kibru and Dr. Kannan Hemalatha (department of Medical Laboratory Sciences and Pathology, Jimma University) for their kindly and excellence guidance as well as moral support to accomplish my thesis.

I am also grateful to Jimma University for the financial support.

I would like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Wondewosen Tsegaye (microbiologist) for his constructive comments on my thesis and facilitating official processes.

Finally, my appreciation goes to following organization and people:

Medical Laboratory Sciences and Pathology department for laboratory reagent and material support

Ethiopian Health and Nutrition Research Institute - Addis Ababa; Ethiopia for providing control strains

Samara University for the sponsor ship of my education

Staffs working in Microbiology Laboratory of the department especially to Ato Mio and W/ro Haymanot for their technical support

W/ro Alemtsehay (ALERT-Addis Ababa, Ethiopia) for her support of antibiotic discs

Staffs of the General surgery departments of JUSH for their co-operation during sample collection and Librarians of graduate studies library of Jimma University for their help during my journal search.

## **BOARD OF EXAMINERS**

#### **1. EXTERNAL EXAMINER**

#### Dr. Daniel Asrat (MSc, PhD)

Associate professor Consultant Medical Specialist (Microbiologist) Department of Microbiology, Immunology & Parasitology Faculty of Medicine, Addis Ababa University Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

## 2. INTERNAL EXAMINER

#### Dr. Getnet Beyene (MSc, PhD)

Department of Medical Laboratory Sciences and Pathology College of Public Health and Medical sciences, Jimma University Jimma, Ethiopia

## 3. ADVISORS

#### 1. Ato Gebre Kibru (BSc, MSc)

#### 2. Dr. Kannan Hemalatha (MSc, PhD)

Department of Medical Laboratory Sciences and Pathology College of Public Health and Medical sciences, Jimma University Jimma, Ethiopia

#### ABSTRACT

Surgical site infection (SSI) stands in the second position accounting one-third of total health care associated infection (HAI). One of the risk factor for SSI is bacterial contamination of indoor air and environmental surfaces in Operating rooms (ORs) and surgical wards (SWs). Different measures are undergoing to reduce these contaminations so as to reduce the risk of SSI of which determining the degree of bacterial contamination and antibiotic susceptibility pattern of the isolates in the environment is one measure. These will help to evaluate the bacterial load of the environments, select appropriate antibiotics as well as to revises and design appropriate hospital infection prevention protocols. Thus, the aim of this study was to determine the degree of bacterial contamination and antibiotic susceptibility pattern of isolates in ORs and SWs of Jimma University Specialized Hospital (JUSH). Laboratory based cross sectional study was conducted taking 252 environmental (108 indoor air and 144 housekeeping surface) samples using purposive sampling technique. The settle plate and sample rinse methods were used for the collection of air and housekeeping surface samples respectively. Then samples were processed with standard bacteriological techniques from October to January 2009/2010 and the data was analyzed using SPSS version 16 for descriptive statistics. The mean indoor air aerobic colony count (ACC) of most SWs and ORs of JUSH were beyond acceptable range being Critical Zone of ORs exceptionally with highest count. Similarly, the mean ACC in housekeeping surfaces (Floor and Table top surfaces) of both ORs and SWs were also higher when compaired with the recommended standard level. Staphylococcus aureus was a predominant isolate 44.4% and 33% from both indoor air and housekeeping surfaces respectively. Among potential pathogenic Gram negative bacteria identified from housekeeping surfaces of ORs and SWs, Klebsiella spp and Escherichia coli were frequently isolated with a rate of 11% each followed by Citrobacter spp (7%) and P. aeruginosa (6.3%). Regarding to the antimicrobial susceptibility pattern of isolates, S. aureus showed 100% (70 isolates tested) resistance to methicillin and 82.3% (96 isolates tested) to ampicillin. Similarly, more than 87% of Klebsiella spp and E. coli were resistant for ampicillin and cephalothin. Unexpectedly, multidrug resistant Enterobacteriaceae for the antibiotics tested was seen in more than 90 % of isolates. Since, the indoor air and housekeeping surface of ORs and SWs of JUSH revealed high degree of aerobic bacterial load being most of the isolates are a potential pathogens and multi drug resistant; an appropriate measures on the infection prevention system need to be implemented to reduce the risk of SSIs.

Key words: Bacterial contamination, indoor air, housekeeping surface, surgical site infection

TABLE OF CONTENTS PAGE
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTi
ABSTRACT iii
TABLE OF CONTENTSiV
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURESiX
OPERATIONAL DEFINITIONX
ABBREVIATIONXiii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
1.1. Background1
1.2. Statement of the problem
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW AND SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY
2.1. Literature review
2.1.1. Indoor air7
2.1.2. Housekeeping surface
2.1.3. Potential pathogenic bacteria in hospital environment10
2.1.4. Measures of controlling bacterial contamination of hospital environment12
2.1.5. Method of indoor air and housekeeping surface sample collection
2.2. Significance of the study16
CHAPTER 3: OBJECTIVE
3.1. General objective
3.2. Specific objectives
CHAPTER 4: MATERIALS AND METHODS
4.1. Study area and study period17
4.2. Study design

4.3. Population	18
4.3.1. Source population	18
4.3.2. Sample population	18
4.4. Sample size and sampling technique	19
4.4.1. Sample size	19
4.4.1.1. Number of indoor air samples	19
4.4.1.2. Number of housekeeping surface samples:	20
4.4.2. Sampling technique	20
4.5. Variables	21
4.5.1. Independent variables	21
4.5.2. Dependant variables	21
4.6. Data collection	21
4.6.1. Sample collection	21
4.6.1.1. Bacteriological sampling of hospital Environment	21
4.6.1.2. Methods of indoor air sample collection in SWs and ORs:	22
4.6.1.2.1. Sites of indoor air sampling in ORs	22
4.6.1.2.2. Time of indoor air sampling in ORs	22
4.6.1.2.3. Sites of indoor air sampling in SWs	22
4.6.1.2.4. Time of indoor air sampling in SWs	22
4.6.1.2.5. Indoor air sampling procedure	23
4.6.1.3. Methods of housekeeping surface sampling:	23
4.6.1.3.1. Sites of housekeeping surface sampling in ORs	23
4.6.1.3.2. Time of housekeeping surface sampling in ORs	23

4.6.1.3.3. Sites of housekeeping surface sampling in SWs	23
4.6.1.3.4. Time of housekeeping surface sampling in SWs	24
4.6.1.3.5. Surface sampling procedure	24
4.6.2. Specimen transportation	
4.6.3. Isolation of bacteria	25
4.6.3.1. Colony enumeration for indoor air samples	
4.6.3.2. Identification of bacteria in indoor air samples	
4.6.3.3. Colony enumeration for environmental surface samples	
4.6.3.4. Identification of bacteria from environmental surface samples	
4.6.3.5. Biochemical and other identification tests	
4.6.4. Antibiotic susceptibility testing	
4.7. Quality control issues	
4.7.1. During culture media preparation	
4.7.2. During sample collection	
4.7.3. During sample processing	
4.8. Data processing and analysis	
4.9. Ethical issues	
CHAPTER 5: RESULTS	
5.1. Bacterial load of indoor air	
5.2. Potential pathogenic bacteria isolated from indoor air	
5.3. Bacterial load in the housekeeping surfaces	
5.4. Potential pathogenic bacteria isolated from housekeeping surfaces	
5.5. Antibiotic susceptibility pattern of isolates	

6.1. Discussion	
6.1.1. Limitation of the study	
6.2. Conclusion	
6.3. Recommendation	
6.3.1. Further research questions	
REFERENCES	46
ANNEX-I	55
ANNEX-II	
ANNEX-III	
ANNEX-IV	
ANNEX-V	60
ANNEX-VI	60

## CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION, CONCLUSSION AND RECOMENDATION

## LIST OF TABLES

## **PAGE**

Table 1.	Total aerobic bacterial load of indoor air from SW and Critical
	Zone of ORs in JUSH; October -January, 2009/2010
Table 2.	Antibiotic resistance pattern of Gram positive bacterial isolates from
	indoor air and housekeeping surfaces of OR and SW units in JUSH;
	October -January, 2009/201035
Table 3.	Antibiotic resistance pattern of Gram negative bacterial isolates
	from housekeeping surfaces of OR and SW units in JUSH;
	October- January, 2009/2010
Table 4.	A format used to collect data of antibiotic susceptibility result of
	bacterial isolates from hospital environment of JUTH from
	October to January, 2009/2010 G.C54
Table 5.	Panels of antibiotic discs that were used in the study for susceptibility testing
Table 6.	Air total bacterial count according to Fisher in different hospital
	environments (CFU on Petri dishes 9 cm in diameter with blood-agar
	left open to air according to the scheme $1/1/1$ ) <sup>48,49</sup>

## LIST OF FIGURES

## **PAGE**

Figure 1. The rooms of General Surgical department of Jimma University	
Specialized Hospital	16
Figure 2. Total aerobic bacterial load of indoor air from Intermediate Zone	
and non-Critical Zone of OR in JUSH; October -January, 2009/2010	30
Figure 3. Isolation rates of potential pathogenic bacteria from indoor air in	
SW and OR units at JUSH; October -January, 2009/2010:	31
Figure 4. Aerobic colony count from housekeeping surfaces of OR and SW	
units in JUSH; October -January, 2009/2010	32
Figure 5. Potential pathogenic Gram negative bacterial isolates from housekeeping	
surfaces of ORs and SWs in JUSH; October -January, 2009/2010	33
Figure 6. Frequency of Gram negative bacterial isolates from housekeeping	
surfaces in Critical, Intermediate and Non-Critical Zone of OR in JUSH;	
October -January, 2009/2010: % (Number of isolates)	34

## **OPERATIONAL DEFINITION**

Bacterial isolates:

Refers to bacteria that can be found from indoor air and housekeeping surfaces in

OR and surgical ward units when incubated at 37c<sup>o</sup> in aerobic condition for 24 hours Colony forming unit:

Either one or an aggregate of bacterial cells which, when cultivated on solid media, will develop into a single visual colony.

#### Critical Zone:

Immediate working zone where the actual surgical procedure is performed and where surgical instruments come into direct contact with work surfaces (includes OR-1 and OR-2)

#### Degree of bacterial contamination:

To what extent high or low is ACC from indoor air and housekeeping surfaces with respect to the standards and other studies as well as what type and how much potential pathogenic bacterial isolates are there in OR and SW of JUSH

#### Environmental surfaces:

Inanimate environmental surfaces in OR and SW units

(Housekeeping surfaces)

Female clothing room:

The room in the Intermediate Zone where females change surgical cloths General surgical department

Refers to the three operating room zones (Critical, Intermediate and Non-critical

Zones) and surgical ward units (SW-female rooms and SW-male rooms) of JUSH

Health-care associated infection:

An infection, that occurs in a client (patients) of any health-care facility

during receiving medical services after 48 hour of admission.

Hospital environment:

Refers to indoor air and environmental surfaces of ORs and SWs environments unless it is stated as "the overall hospital environment" to express the whole hospital environment Housekeeping surfaces:

Environmental surfaces (floors and tabletops) that are not involved in direct delivery of patient care in general surgical department of JUSH.

Intermediate:

When bacteria isolated from hospital environment is partially inhibited (with a predetermined zone of inhibition for a particular antibiotics and bacterium) when grown in a Muller-Hinton media containing antibiotics.

#### Intermediate zone:

The area in the operating room where surgeons and their assistants change their surgical cloths and shoes as well as sterilized cloth storing rooms (includes SCS, FCR and MCR)

#### Male clothing room:

The room in the Intermediate Zone where males change surgical cloths Multi drug resistance:

> A bacterium that cannot be inhibited or killed by two or more antibiotics with their corresponding inhibitory or lethal dose

## Non-critical zone:

The area in the operating room where surgical and other instruments are sterilized, packed and stored in a clean support room (includes SR, PR and SMS)

#### OR units (ORs):

Operating room units includes three zones; Critical (OR-1, OR-2 and minor OR), Intermediate Zone (SCS, FCR and MCR) and Non-Critical Zone (SR, PR and SMS)

#### Packing room:

The room in the non Critical Zone where sterilized surgical equipments and surgical Cloths are packed Potential pathogenic bacteria:

Bacteria that were isolated from air and housekeeping samples in OR and SW including: *S. aureus*, *S. pyogenes*, *Klebsiella* spp, *E. coli*, *P. aeruginosa*, *Citrobacter* spp, *Enterobacter* spp, *Acinetobacter* spp, *Providencia* spp and *Serratia* spp

#### Resistance

When bacteria isolated from hospital environment grow with in the inhibition zone (with in a predetermined zone of inhibition for a particular antibiotics and bacterium) of antibiotics when cultured in a Muller-Hinton media.

Sterilized cloth store:

The room in the Intermediate Zone where sterilized surgical clothes are stored Susceptible

When bacteria isolated from hospital environment cannot grow in the

inhibition zone (with a predetermined zone of inhibition for a particular

antibiotics and bacterium) of antibiotics when inoculated in a Muller-Hinton media.

#### SW units (SWs):

Refers to Female room-1, Male room-1, Female room-2 and Male room-2

## **ABBREVIATION**

$ACC \rightarrow$	Aerobic Colony Count
$AST \rightarrow$	Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing
$CDC \rightarrow$	Center for Diseases Control and prevention
CFU→	Colony Forming Unit
FCR→	Female clothing room
FR-1→	Female room one
FR-2→	Female room two
$\mathrm{HAI} \rightarrow$	Health care Associated Infection
HE→	Hospital Environments
JUSH→	Jimma University Specialized Hospital
MCR→	Male clothing room
MRSA→	Methicillin resistant S. aureus
MR-1→	Male room one
MR-2→	Male room two
OR→	Operating Room
OR-1→	Operating room one
OR-2→	Operating room two
PR→	Packing room
SCS→	Sterilized cloth store

SMS→	Sterilized material store		
SR→	Sterilizing room		
$SSI \rightarrow$	Surgical Site Infection		
$\mathrm{SW} \rightarrow$	Surgical Ward		
WHO $\rightarrow$	World Health Organization		

## **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

## 1.1. Background

Health care associated infection (HAI) also called nosocomial infection is a localized or systemic condition occurring in a patient during receiving medical services which results from adverse reaction to the presence of an infectious agent(s) or its toxin(s) that was not present or incubating at the time of admission to the health care institutions (1, 2, 3).

In an average, depending on the population surveyed and definitions used, studies have shown that the prevalence of HAI is varied in different countries. In developed continents like Europe and North America, it occurs in 5%-10% of all hospitalizations (2, 4, 5). In countries like Greece and Spain, for example, the prevalence is 9.3% (6) and 7.9% (7) respectively. In USA, 2 million people per year develop HAIs (3). But in developing countries as in part of Asia, Latin America and Africa (especially sub-Saharan Africa), the prevalence can reach in more than 40% of hospitalizations (8). Generally the risk of HAIs in developing countries has been estimated to be 2-20 times higher than that in developed countries (9). This higher prevalence can partly be attributed to poor infrastructure, over-crowding, inadequate health personnel and management in most hospitals (10). The prevalence in African countries like Morocco, Tunisia and Ethiopia is 17.8 % (4), 17.9% (5) and 13 % (11) respectively.

Microorganism which causes HAI is called health care acquired pathogens and almost any microbe (like bacteria, fungi and viruses) can cause the infection. HAIs due to bacterial agent can be caused by a wide variety of bacterial species. Some of these include *Staphylococcus* species, *Streptococcus* species, *Enterococcus* species, *Pseudomonas* species, *Klebsiella* species, *Escherichia coli, Enterobacter* spp, *Citrobacter* spp, *Acinetobacter* spp, *Proteus* species, *Serratia* spp and *Salmonella* species of which *Staphylococcus* species, *Enterococcus* species, *P. aeruginosa, E. coli, Klebsiella* spp and *Streptococcus* species being the most frequently reported (10, 12, 13, 14).

The HAI pathogens can come either from endogenous or exogenous sources. Endogenous sources are those that are from the patient's own microbial flora following surgical, diagnostic, therapeutic procedures and other factors which translocate the bacteria from their normal habitat

and/or suppresses the natural defense of the patients. While exogenous sources are from the surrounding which includes hospital staffs and inanimate environmental sources like contaminated surfaces, air, food or water. Environmental reservoirs like housekeeping surfaces can act directly as a source of infection for the patients when there is direct contact or may contaminate health personnel acting indirectly [for example, around four in ten of a health personnel entering to environment contaminated with *S. aureus* will take the bacterium though they do not make any contact with patients in the ward (15)] as a source of infection (10).

HAIs are worldwide public health problems affecting developed and developing countries. They have a multi directional impact constituting an important cause of mortality, morbidity and increase treatment costs (2, 5, 6). In USA, HAIs were responsible for 0.7% to 10.1% of all deaths occurred in the early 1990s and 1,737, 125 infections in 2002 (16, 17). On average, around 90,000 deaths occur in USA annually as a result of HAIs (3). In 2001, 21.3% of deaths in Spain hospital were due to HAI (17). Whereas, the population-attributable risk of death due to HAI in France ranges from 2.1% to 4.0% (18). HAIs has also (directly or indirectly) a great economic impact as a result of increased length of hospital stay, need for isolation of patients, increased antibiotic and diagnostic test use (2). HAI is responsible for more than 4.5 billion dollar (3, 19) and 2 billion dollar (20) excess health care costs annually in USA and England respectively.

Eventhough there is limited data on the morbidity, mortality and excess costs attributed to HAI (16), the impact is more severe on the cost-effectiveness of health care provision in developing countries. It is generally recognized that the lower the economic status of a given country, the greater HAI impact in mortality and compromise quality of life (4, 19). Some data in developing countries indicates that HAI is greatly exploiting the weak economy of different countries. In Thailand, it has been estimated that the infections cost more than 40 million US dollar every year (21).

There are 13 major categories of HAIs depending on the site involved (1) but the most frequent ones are surgical site infection (SSI), urinary tract infections and lower respiratory tract infections (2). Surgical site infections, which is an important clinical indicator for quality of patient care and infection control (22), is the second most common type of HAI and accounts for almost one-third of all health care associated infection. The prevalence of SSI varies from one country to another country depending on different factors (for example level of infection prevention and control practice). Africa, which have low infection prevention practice measures, have high rate of SSI compared to developed countries. The infection rate in developed countries, for example, like Greece and Turkey is 5.3% (23) and 4.53% (24) respectively. But the rate in African countries is higher than developed countries (4). The prevalence of SSIs in Morocco and Tanzania is 19.5% (4) and 23.5% (25) respectively. Where as a study in Ethiopia indicates that from the total HAIs, wound infection (including surgical wounds) ranks first accounting around 49% (11).

Over all, SSI rate is determined by the bacterial contamination level of hospital environment together with the surgeon's technique during the operation, patient's degree of susceptibility, insertion of foreign material or implants, appropriateness of surgical preparation, adequacy and timing of antimicrobial prophylaxis (24, 26, 27).

## 1.2. Statement of the problem

Surgical site infection (whose rate is related with bacterial contamination of the environment) to occur, there must be susceptible host, a pathogen and its source (reservoir). Patient's normal flora, health personnel and hospital environment can act as a source of infection. Thus patients under gone some surgical procedures can develop SSI by acquiring the agent (in this case-bacteria), directly or indirectly, in OR's and/or SW's environment. Due to contaminated hospital environments (HE) and rapid progress in the development of antibiotic resistance in a wide variety of health care acquired bacterial pathogens particularly contaminating the HE along with high number of immunocompromised patients and increasing variety of medical procedures and invasive techniques (creating potential routes of infection), SSIs are still a major problem in modern medicine posing a substantial public health impact interms of morbidity, mortality and extra health care cost (2,19, 27, 28). SSI lengthens the hospitalization stay by an average of 7.4 days and raises the cost of hospitalization by more than 800 dollars (29). From the extra health care associated cost due to nosocomial infection in USA (for example), the highest proportion is due to SSIs which accounts 42% from the total extra cost (26).

Now days, the surgical interventions are complex and time consuming that demands intensive activities, a large team of professionals and the use of many different instruments. These situations make the effective control of variables that interfere in the health, wellbeing and comfort of patients increasingly important. Thus to achieve acceptable performance, operating rooms (ORs) and surgical wards (SWs) should accomplish a complex range of infection prevention measures by considering different contamination risks for SSI. One of the risk factor for the development of SSI is bacterial contamination of indoor air and environmental surfaces in ORs and SWs (30). Though the extent to which hospital environment contributes to the development of SSI is not fully exploited because of measurement difference between studies and variability in institutional cleaning qualities (which act as a confounder) (12, 31, 32), the role of the environment as a reservoir of potential pathogens has also received increasing attention.

One study on environmental contamination by methicillin resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) indicates that 73% of the hospital rooms containing patients infected with MRSA and 69% of the rooms containing patients colonized with MRSA had some environmental contamination (33). In some occasions, the HE can become contaminated extensively that the infection control system which is under implementation by the hospital may not be effective needing more enhanced cleaning. For example, studies indicate that conventional cleaning of surfaces in hospital rooms of patients with vancomycin resistant *Enterococcus* spp was inadequate on 16% of occasions but these surfaces were uniformly free of vancomycin resistant Enterococcus (VRE) after more enhanced cleaning. In another occasion, enhancing environmental cleaning results control of outbreaks due to vancomycin resistant *Enterococcus* spp which was indicated by a decrease in environmental culture positives of the isolates from 29% to 1% (34).

Over all, a favorable niche for bacterial pathogens (for resistant and non resistant strains) can quickly be found in the environment and retained unless disturbed by some appropriate infection prevention process. It is indicated that when the environment is heavily contaminated by bacterial pathogens (despite routine cleaning), different Organisms such as VRE, MRSA and other bacteria survive for long period on surfaces (35, 36). Even exemplary hand hygiene cannot completely remove nosocomial bacterial pathogens thus it cannot prevent the environment from acting as a source of SSIs (32, 37). Thus to minimize the extra burden like prolonged morbidity, mortality and associated extra healthcare costs in the community due to SSI (HAI as well), identifying these risk factors and implementing appropriate infection preventive measures based on the local guidelines established is the best way (4, 17, 19, 28, 38). Since a well implemented infection control program can reduce the incidence of HAIs by around one-third (though eradication is impossible) (5) as it is done in countries like USA (19).

So, minimize the contribution of hospital environment due to bacterial contamination (which is one of the risk factor) acting as a reservoir for bacterial pathogens causing SSIs, cleaning of environmental surfaces (in addition to hand hygiene) should be implemented in a cost effective manner and its effectiveness should be assessed based on microbiological basis rather than using subjective criteria like visual assessment which is poor indicator of cleaning. In one study, 82% of ward sites were assessed as visually clean yet only 30% were considered clean using microbiological techniques. Reduction of airborne bacteria in the operating room by about 13-fold, for example, would reduce the wound contamination by about 50% (39). Thus cleaning should be investigated as a scientific process with measurable outcome with integrated approach. This would include from simple preliminary visual assessment (as the first stage in an integrated monitoring programme) to specific microbiological investigations (32, 40).

Therefore the present study was intended to measure the degree of bacterial contamination of OR and SW environments and determine antimicrobial susceptibility pattern of the isolates as part of microbiological investigation.

## **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW AND SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY**

## 2.1. Literature review

Wide variety of microorganisms including potential pathogenic bacteria are found in hospital environment where different people with different types of diseases with various pathogenic organisms aggregate. There are several reports demonstrating bacterial contamination of different environmental sites in ORs and SWs including indoor air, tables, floors and other furniture surfaces with the potential to lead to nosocomial spread (27, 35, 41, 42, 43, 44).

#### 2.1.1. Indoor air

Indoor air can be polluted with potential bacterial pathogens released in to the air from different sources. Environmental surface reservoirs like housekeeping surfaces (more than 15% of the bacteria of OR air comes from floor (43)), patients, carrier health personnel, construction activities and delayed maintenance can act as a source for bacterial air pollution through shedding and environmental disturbance during different activities (45, 37). Factors like number of visitors, number of carrier health personnel, extent of indoor traffic, time of day and the amount of materials brought in from outside aggravate the extent of air bacterial contamination. Airborne dispersal of *S. aureus*, for example, is directly associated with the concentration of the bacterium in the anterior nares. Approximately 10% of healthy carriers are known to disseminate *S. aureus* into the air. So that microbiological quality of indoor air can be considered as a mirror of the hygienic conditions of the operating room (45, 46, 47).

There are a few standards set for the acceptable indoor air bacterial load in different hospital environment. A bacteriological standard of indoor air in ORs at different condition and in SWs initially suggested by Fisher *et al* in the 1970s (48) [its English version is also found on review article published by Pasquarella *et al* (49)] set different aerobic bacterial load levels. According to this standard, the total aerobic bacterial count of samples obtained from the indoor air when ORs at rest, ORs in activity and SWs should be in the range of 0-4, 0-60 and 0-250 CFU//hr respectively to be optimal. The bacterial load is acceptable in these rooms when it is in the range of 5-8, 61-90 and 251-450 CFU//hr respectively. Whereas when the bacterial load is greater than these limits, it is considered as unacceptable. In other words, the bacterial load of these rooms become unacceptable when the load is greater than 9, 91 and 451 CFU/hr for ORs at rest, ORs active and SWs in general respectively.

Studies have been conducted to determine the bacterial load of indoor air in ORs and SWs of hospital environments. A study by Suzuki A. *et al* (1984) in Japan was conducted to determine airborne contamination in a conventional operating rooms for five years using settle plate methods and other methods indicates that the rooms when active showed a higher bacterial load than when they were at rest (empty) showing a 12 times increase in mean total aerobic bacterial count. In the same study, it is also shown that the bacterial count in the Critical Zone doubled in the Intermediate Zone and further doubled in the Non-Critical Zone (50).

Another study conducted in Nigeria state hospital taking indoor air samples from Female Surgical Ward, Male Surgical Ward and major OR using settle plate method indicated that a mean aerobic colony count (ACC) was 42.25, 30.5, 3.25 CFU respectively (51).

#### 2.1.2. Housekeeping surfaces

Hospital environments like housekeeping surfaces could become contaminated by different reasons like by settlement of airborne bacteria, by contact with shoes, trolley tables, other solid objects and occasionally by fecal contamination, spilling of urine, pus, sputum and other fluids (44).

There are a few proposed bacteriological standards to evaluate the load and distribution of potential pathogenic bacteria in hospital environmental surfaces as that of indoor air bacterial load standards.

The proposed standard states that the total bacterial load and the species isolated in samples taken from housekeeping surfaces from different units of targeted environment should be comparable with the stated values [which is supported and sited by different guideline like British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy (52), CDC (53), Scottish Infection Standards and Strategy (54) and literatures (15, 55, 56, 57)]. The standard recommends the acceptable aerobic bacterial load of environmental surface in hospitals based on two criteria: indicator organisms and quantitative aerobic colony count. The first criteria is finding of a specific 'indicator' organism, the presence of which suggests a requirement for increased cleaning. Indicator organisms include *S. aureus*, vancomycin resistant *Enterococcus* (VRE) and multiple resistant Gram-negative bacilli. The second criterion is quantitative ACC which is the total number of aerobic organisms from a sampled area. The ACC from a hand contact surface should be < 5 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup>. The finding of  $\geq$  5 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup> from a hand contact surface, whatever the identity of the organisms, indicates that there might be an increased risk of infection for the patient in that environment. This should generate an evaluation of the cleaning/disinfection practices and frequencies for that surface (32).

A study was conducted to determine the bacterial load of housekeeping surfaces taking floor samples from Operating Rooms by Hambraeus A *et al* (1978) in Sweden. In the study, the highest aerobic bacteria count was seen in the Dressing Room of the Intermediate Zone with 7  $CFU/cm^2$  where as the count was 0.72  $CFU/cm^2$  in Critical Zone (58).

## 2.1.3. Potential pathogenic bacteria in hospital environment

Different potential pathogenic bacteria are isolated colonizing environmental surfaces of hospital environment (35). Some of them which are frequently isolated include *S. aureus, Enterococcus* species, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli, Klebsiella* species, *Streptococcus* species, *Citrobacter* species, *Enterobacter* spp, *Acinetobacter* spp and other bacteria (12, 59, 60, 61). Most of these bacteria persist on dry environmental surfaces for months. All members of the Staphylococcal family have the ability to survive in the environment over a wide range of temperatures, humidity and exposure to sunlight (62). In a study, *Staphylococcus* species and *Enterococcus* species shows maximum survival time of more than 60 days (31). When mixed with hospital dust, MRSA can still be viable even for more than one year after inoculation (33). Gram negative bacteria like *Klebsiella* species, *P. aeruginosa* and *E. coli* show a maximum survival time of 27, 25, 20 days respectively in different hospital environment surfaces (31). The other gram negative bacteria *Acinetobacter* spp have long mean survival time on dry surface approximately 27 days – a year depending on the species and strain types (63).

Studies also indicated that bacteria which are found in the environment are responsible for increased risk to acquire HAI (e.g. SSI) compared to non- colonized environment. In one study, a positive culture result for VRE in samples taken from environmental surface of patient's room (like tables and floors) before admission increases the risk of acquisition of the bacterium by more than 3-fold when compared with culture negative rooms. Similarly different bacteria were isolated from hands of health care workers after contact with environmental surfaces near hospitalized patients. Some of the bacteria include *S. aureus, Enterococcus* spp. and *K. pneumoniae* implying that hand contamination is, in part, from touching contaminated surfaces or equipments (33, 35, 36, 42, 45, 60, 64).

Moreover, different investigations using molecular epidemiology and experimental study designs indicate that bacteria which are found in the environment are responsible for different outbreaks (60). An outbreak in surgical ward was occurred by a multidrug resistant *P. aeruginosa* in USA hospital around 1977. Based on the investigation undertaken by the help of serological, pyocin and phage typing, it was found that the source of *P. aeruginosa* was the hospital environment. Finally, the outbreak by the bacterium was concluded that it was due to cross contamination from

surgical ward environment (65). Similarly, multiple-resistant *K. pneumoniae* outbreak in Scotland was occurred in 1992-1995. In the outbreak, the bacteria expressing expanded spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamase (ESBL) activity was described and environmental screening revealed extensive ward contamination. Though there was a decline following the implementation of standard infection control procedures, difficulty in controlling the outbreak was encountered due to heavy environmental contamination (66). In one study, it is also found that the *Acinetobacter* spp. isolates from housekeeping surfaces were indistinguishable from isolates from patients (13) indicating environment as a potential source of the bacteria. Similarly, *S. aureus* is frequently responsible for SSI through air born transmission in SW and operating theater (67).

Another reason which makes the contribution of hospital environment to SSI development more sever is that a significant proportion of potential pathogenic bacteria isolated from the environment develop a multi-resistant to different antibiotics. The occurrence of multi-drug resistance in these pathogens has resulted in the emergence and reemergence of difficult to treat HAIs in patients. Examples of bacteria possessing such drug resistance are methicillin-resistant *S. aureus*, penicillin resistant *Pneumococcus*, vancomycin-resistant enterococci, vancomycin resistant *S. aureus*, multi drug resistance Enterobacteriaceae, multi drug resistant *P. aeruginosa* and *Acinetobacter* spp (61, 68, 69, 70, 71). As a result, from more than 2 million HAIs occurring each year 50 to 60% are caused by antimicrobial-resistant strains of bacteria in USA (72).

According to a study conducted by Wolde Tenssay Z. on "Multiple antimicrobial resistance in bacterial isolates from clinical and environmental sources of Jimma Hospital, Southwest Ethiopia" in 2002 showed that the most frequent bacterial isolates were *S. aureus*, *Proteus* species and *Klebsiella* species with a frequency of 17, 10 and 8% respectively. Whereas *E. coli* and *Enterobacter* speciese together accounts 14%. In the study, the antimicrobial susceptibility test result showed that *E. coli*, *Klebsiella* species and *Enterobacter* species were 100% resistant for ampicillin where as *S. aureus* was 93% resistant to the same antibiotic. On the other hand, almost all the isolates were found to be multiple resistant to ampicillin, tetracycline, chloramphenicol and trimethoprim-sulphamethoxazole which are the commonly used antimicrobials (73).

# 2.1.4. Measures of controlling bacterial contamination of hospital environment

Despite improvements in hand hygiene and ongoing efforts to optimize isolation practices, reducing the spread of health care–associated pathogens to patients constitutes one of the most challenging unless appropriate infection control measure is implemented on the hospital environment (74, 75). There are different measures which are known to reduce the total bacterial load and potential pathogenic bacteria in hospital environment to the optimal level. Some of these measures include reducing foot trafficking in and out of the OR, improving the ventilation system, appropriate educational intervention on routine cleaning which is under implementation, programmatic (arrangement) intervention on the existing cleaning system and enhancing the existing cleaning system (50, 57, 76, 77). If these intervention measures are appropriately implemented, significant improvement in cleaning of hospital environment will be achieved (57) as confirmed by culture (57, 76, 74) and non-culture based (57, 75) cleaning evaluation studies following implementation of the measures.

Different studies directed in educational and programmatic intervention on the existing cleaning systems in different hospitals indicate improvement in the cleaning of hospital environment is possible. In a study by Carling CP *et al* (75) indicated that sustained improvement in cleaning of housekeeping surfaces was achieved following educational intervention by more than 2-fold when compared with cleaning before the intervention. Similarly, culture based study indicated that the rate of environmental contamination of hospital environment with potential pathogenic bacteria (with Vancomycin resistant Enterococcus and *Clostridium difficile*) fall from 71% to 0-20% after routine cleaning following educational and programmatic interventions (57).

In the same way, enhancing the existing cleaning system improves the contamination of hospital environments. A study by Dancer JS *et al* in surgical ward shows that one extra cleaner was associated with a 32.5% reduction in levels of microbial contamination and reduced recovery of MRSA from 16 to 12 hand touch sites as well as decreased ward acquired MRSA infection from 9 to 4 after intervention (76). Similarly, another study by Rampling A *et al* indicated that the aquestation of environmental MRSA was reduced greatly by increasing the domestic cleaning hour of housekeeping surfaces and medical equipments. The study also indicated that as a result of enhanced cleaning, it was also possible to effectively control MRSA outbreak (in which promoting hand hygiene and isolation of patients alone was not effective) (74) as well as different outbreaks by *Acinetobacter* spp (15).

Thus, a single or a combination of infection control measures explained were found to be effective in reducing the bacterial contamination level of hospital environment as confirmed by different studies.

## 2.1.5. Method of indoor air and housekeeping surface sample collection

Air specimen for bacteriological investigation can be collected by different methods which can generally be classified into four methods: counting of colony forming units per cubic meter of air (cfu/m3), the count of CFU on settle plates, measurement of a chemical component of the microbial cells/m3 of air and the count under the microscope. The measurement of chemical components of microbial cells (DNA, enzymes) has not yet produced practical and reliable methods for the study of airborne micro-organisms. Counts under the microscope or by automatic counters in fluorescence have limited applications and are still under study. At the moment, the only effective means of quantifying airborne microbes is limited to the count of CFU. The CFU count is the most important parameter as it measures the live micro-organisms which can multiply. The method designed for counting CFU, which is widely used, can be performed in two ways: by active air samplers or by passive air sampling (the settle plate method). Active air sampling could be performed by different methods including impingers, impactors (slit-type), impactors (sieve type), filtration samplers, centrifugal samplers and electrostatic precipitation samplers. Whereas passive air sampling is performed using settle plates. Petri dishes containing a solid nutrient medium are left open to air for a given period of

time. Though both active and passive sampling has its own advantage and disadvantages, the passive sampling is economical, reproducible and feasible (readily available). It allows the evaluation of surface contamination settling from the air and does not disturb the natural trend of the microbial population in the air during the sampling time. It also measure microbial fallout rather than air suspended microbes which is more practical and a more relevant indicator of actual wound contamination rate if it is used specially in Operating rooms and Surgical wards. The Settle Plate Method, for example, was used for bacteriological monitoring by 49% of 147 centers with 438 Operating Theaters assessed in Great Britain and Ireland (49, 78).

Environmental surface sample can be performed by different methods of which contact plate method and sample/rinse method are the common one. Compared with contact plate method, Sample/Rinse Method is frequently chosen. This is because sample/rinse method is widely used, simple, easy to use and most accurate for enumerating micro-organisms on a surface (79, 80).

## 2.2. Significance of the study

Despite a relative advancement of HAI prevention in developed countries, still there is no well established measure in developing countries that could be applied based on the local situation in the countries. In Ethiopia, as part of developing countries, there is no well established infection prevention measure in health care institutes even though the country has prepared national guide line in 2004 (81). The problem is compounded by environmental contamination of hospital environment in the health care setting which acts as significant source of HAI causing a magnificent morbidity and mortality. Thus it creates a public health problem mainly due to lack of data indicating the level of environmental contamination in the hospital setting which is very important to devise appropriate infection prevention measures (32).

Many HAIs have been demonstrated to be due to cross transmission of bacterial pathogens from hospital environment. From different hospital environments, OR and SW environments are one of the workplaces that need the highest hygiene standards (64). Most of the infections arising from these environments could potentially be prevented through adequate application of infection prevention practices (82). Different methods are implemented of which measuring the degree of bacterial contamination of hospital environment as well as determining the susceptibility pattern of the isolates to commonly used antibiotics in the area is the main one. Such kind of study will help to evaluate infection prevention measures under implementation (to some extent), to select appropriate antibiotics for empirical therapy (which requires understanding of local susceptibility patterns of bacterial pathogens) as well as to revises and, if necessary, design appropriate hospital infection prevention and control protocols in an effort to minimize the incidence of SSI (3). By taking these facts into consideration, the present study was conducted to determine the degree of bacterial contamination of ORs and SWs environment to measure antimicrobial susceptibility profile of the isolates at JUSH in Ethiopia area where there is no such studies has been conducted. The study was also intended to provide a base line information for whom interested to make further studies.

## **CHAPTER 3: OBJECTIVE**

## 3.1. General objective

To determine the degree of bacterial contamination of ORs & SWs environment and antibiotic susceptibility pattern of isolates at JUSH

## 3.2. Specific objectives

- To determine the total bacterial load of indoor air and housekeeping surfaces in ORs and SWs
- > To isolate potential pathogenic bacteria from the indoor air in OR and SW units
- To identify the distribution of bacterial pathogens from housekeeping surfaces in ORs and SW units
- > To describe antibiotic susceptibility pattern of bacterial isolates from different sites
- To generate base line information and forward appropriate recommendations based on the findings

## **CHAPTER 4: MATERIALS AND METHODS**

## 4.1. Study area & study period

#### Study area:

The study was carried out in JUSH. The hospital which is found in Jimma town located south west Ethiopia 335 km from the capital-city, Addis Ababa. The town is located:  $07^{\circ}39$ ' Lat and  $36^{\circ}50$ ' Long, at an altitude of 1700-1750m above sea level (83). JUTH is the only hospital in the town with 300 beds. General surgical department is one of the departments in the hospital.





ORs: Operating Rooms	OR-2: Operating Room-2	PR: Packing Room	MR-1: Male Room-1
CZ: Critical Zone	SCS: Sterilized Cloth Store	SWs: Surgical Wards	FR-2: Female Room-2
IZ: Intermediate Zone	FCR: Female Clothing Room	R-1: Room-1	MR-2: Male Room-2
Non-CZ: Non Critical Zone	MCR: Male Clothing Room SM	AS R-2: Room-2	
OR-1: Operating Room-1	SR: Sterilizing Room	FR-1: Female Room	ı-1

The general surgical department of JUSH consists of ORs which is divided in to three zones and four SW units. The four SW units (FR-1, MR-1, FR-2 and MR-2) have a total of 53 beds. The surgical ward rooms (R-1 and R-2), which is separated by long corridor, are served by two ORs (OR-1 and OR-2) where the actual surgical procedure is performed and is considered as Critical Zone. The other two zones of ORs are called Intermediate (includes SCS, FCR and MCR) Zone and non-Critical Zone (includes SR, PR and SMS). Both ORs and SWs are situated at ground level. The ORs are connected to SWs by a long corridor.

The environmental samples were collected from the general surgical department of JUSH and processed in Microbiology Laboratory of Jimma University. This well equipped laboratory performs different microbiological investigations including parasitological and serological tests for academic and research purposes. It also gives service (culture and susceptibility testing) for needing community.

#### Study period

The study was conducted from October to January, 2009/2010.

## 4.2. Study design

Cross sectional study

## 4.3. Population

#### 4.3.1. Source population

General Surgical (SWs and ORs) department environment

#### 4.3.2. Sample population

Sample population of the study was indoor air and housekeeping surface (Tabletop and Floor) of ORs and SWs.

Sample population was selected by considering different factors like their representativeness of the environment targeted, the study objective and its significance.

## 4.4. Sample size & sampling technique

#### 4.4.1. Sample size

The sample size was determined by taking into account the factors such as sampling site, time, number (frequency) and interval as it was recommended by CDC (84) and Pasquarella *et al* (49) in an attempt to make the data representative. Accordingly a total of 252 samples were taken for the study by considering additional different guidelines prepared by CDC (45) and Scottish quality assurance specialist interest group (79).

#### 4.4.1.1. Number of indoor air samples:

The bacterial concentration in indoor air may be affected by factors like indoor traffic, visitors entering the facility, time of a day and width of the room to be sampled. To be meaningful, CDC and quality assurance specialist interest group recommends considering such factors in conducting microbiological study (45, 79). Thus to make the samples taken from indoor air in SWs and ORs representative of the environment targeted, the sample size was determined by considering these factors as well as different literatures (39, 51).

Sampling of ORs indoor air was performed from three zones (Critical Zone, Intermediate Zone and non-Critical Zone). In Critical Zone, sampling was done at two different rooms using two separate culture plate for two rounds and one separate culture plate for the remaining two rounds of sample collection in each rooms. In Intermediate Zone and non-Critical Zone, sampling was done using one separate culture plate in three rooms of each zone for four rounds. Thus, from these OR units a total of 36 air samples were taken.

Air sampling of the four SW units (FR-1, MR-1, FR-2 and MR-2) were performed in two different sites (center and corner of the units) at three different time of a day using one separate culture plates in each sampling sites. During the study, each room is sampled three times. Thus a total of 72 air samples from surgical ward units were taken. The data collection period, sampling frequency (interval) and number of sites for air samples was determined by considering the recommendation of CDC (45), other studies by Ekhaise OF *et al* (46), Sarica S *et al* (85) and the resource available for the study.

#### 4.4.1.2. Number of housekeeping surface samples:

To make the sample representative, CDC recommends deciding location of surface to be sampled and number of replicate samples based on guidelines and available literatures (45, 36). Thus based on literature search and guidelines (79), 144 housekeeping surface samples were taken.

Housekeeping surfaces in ORs were sampled from three zones (Critical Zone, Intermediate Zone and non-Critical Zone). In Critical Zone, two housekeeping surfaces (floor and table top surfaces) were sampled twice for two sampling rounds and once for the remaining two rounds at two different rooms. In Intermediate Zone and non-Critical Zone, sampling of two housekeeping surfaces was done at three different rooms in each zone for four rounds (once in each round). Thus in the study period, 72 samples were taken from ORs. Similarly, two housekeeping surfaces in four SW units (FR-1, MR-1, FR-2 and MR-2) were sampled at three different time of a day. During the study, each room is sampled three times. Thus a total of 72 housekeeping surfaces were taken from SWs. Hence, the total of housekeeping surface samples taken from ORs and SWs were 144 (i.e. 72 samples each).

#### 4.4.2. Sampling technique

The sampling technique used for study subject selection to collect bacteriological samples was purposive sampling technique.
### 4.5. Variables

#### 4.5.1. Independent variables

- Housekeeping surfaces
- ➢ Indoor air
- $\succ$  OR units
- ➢ SW units
- Site of indoor air collection in SWs
- > Time of indoor air collection in SWs
- > Time of housekeeping surface collection in SWs
- Antibiotics tested

#### 4.5.2. Dependant variables

- Aerobic colony count
- ➢ Bacterial isolate
- Susceptibility results

### 4.6. Data collection

#### 4.6.1. Sample collection

### 4.6.1.1. Bacteriological Sampling of hospital Environment

Bacteriological samples of indoor air and housekeeping surfaces were taken from different OR and SW units. During sample collection, a survey format was field at the time of collection which contains code number, collection time, type of specimen and other parameters (Annex-I).

There were twelve rounds of sampling in SW (for both air and housekeeping surface) for the three month of sample collection period. Each sample collection rounds were every week. In each sample collection, one SW unit was sampled by taking six air and six housekeeping samples. Thus a total of 144 air and housekeeping samples were taken at different site and time from SW units. On the other hand, OR units were sampled four times in the study period. In each round of sampling, 18 housekeeping surface and 9 air samples were taken. Thus in OR units, 72 housekeeping and 36 air samples were taken at different site and time during the study period.

#### 4.6.1.2. Method of indoor air samples collection in ORs and SWs:

In the present study, air sample was collected by the Settle Plate Method which is economical, reproducible and feasible (readily available) (49).

#### 4.6.1.2.1. Sites of indoor air sampling in ORs

There were three sites in each zone of ORs (i.e. Critical, Intermediate and non-Critical Zones). Thus there were a total of nine sampling sites in ORs. Each site was sampled in all of the four rounds using one separate Plate in each site at the same time.

### 4.6.1.2.2. Time of indoor air sampling in ORs

In the two round of sampling, samples were taken from Critical Zone when OR were active (surgical procedures were undergoing) where as in the other two round of sampling, the samples were taken when ORs were passive. On the other units of ORs (Intermediate and non-Critical Zones), samples were collected in the morning for two round of sampling and afternoon for the other two round of sampling periods. To increase the representativeness, sampling were taken alternatively (i.e. in the first round, samples were taken when ORs were passive for critical zone. For intermediate and non-critical zone, samples were taken alternatively in the morning for the first round and in the afternoon for the second round and so on.

### 4.6.1.2.3. Sites of indoor air sampling in SWs

There were two sites in each unit of SWs. These were corners and center of the room selected based on recommendations by Scottish quality assurance specialist interest group (79). Since there are four units of SW, there were eight site of sample collection in which one separate plate was used for each site.

### 4.6.1.2.4. Time of indoor air sampling in SWs

Air samples in surgical ward units were collected at three different time of a day: at 8 am to 9 am, at 11am to 12 am and at 4 pm to 5 pm in each round of sampling. In each round of sample collection, the corners in which the plates were placed were rotated to increase the representative of the samples taken from the surgical ward units.

### 4.6.1.2.5. Indoor air sampling procedure in brief:

The schedule 1/1/1 (a method devised by Fisher G *et al* (48) which can also be found on a review article by Pasquarella C *et al* (49)) was used in collection. A 9 cm in diameter sterile blood agar plate (labeled with code number at the back side) was left open to the air in OR and SW units for 1 hour, 1meter above the floor and 1meter from the wall (48, 49). Stepwise protocol of indoor air sample collection is explained in Annex-II.

### 4.6.1.3. Method of housekeeping surface sampling:

The house keeping surfaces were Floor and Table top surfaces.

Environmental surface samples were collected from housekeeping surfaces using Sample/Rinse Method which is frequently chosen. Sterile cotton swab was used for specimen collection and it was rubbed over the surfaces during collection to insure better capture (45, 79, 80).

### 4.6.1.3.1. Sites of housekeeping surface sampling in ORs

There were three sites for floor and three for table top surfaces in each zone of ORs (i.e. Critical, Intermediate and non-Critical Zones). Thus there were a total of 18 sampling sites in one round of sample collection for ORs. So, there were a total of 72 sampling sites in four round of sample collection since each site is sampled once in the study.

### 4.6.1.3.2. Time of housekeeping surface sampling in ORs

Samples from selected housekeeping surfaces in OR units were collected when ORs were active for one round and when ORs were passive for the other round alternatively (in Critical Zone) as well as in the morning for one round and afternoon for the other round (in Intermediate and non-Critical Zones).

### 4.6.1.3.3. Sites of housekeeping surface sampling in SWs

There were a total of 76 sampling sites in 12 round (in one round, one SW unit was sampled) of sample collection: 36 for floor and 36 for table top surfaces. For six rounds of sampling the floor surfaces in SW units, 18 floor sampling sites which are under patient bed were selected. In each of these six rounds of sampling, different under patient bed floor sampling sites was selected. For the remaining six rounds of floor sampling, 18 floor sampling sites which were not under patient

bed in SW were selected. To increase the representativeness, sampling was taken alternatively (i.e. in the first round, samples were taken from floors which is under patient bed and in the second round, samples were taken from floor which was not under patient bed and so on). For table top sampling in SW units, a total of 36 different sampling sites from different bed side tables in 12 rounds were sampled.

#### 4.6.1.3.4. Time of housekeeping surface sampling in SWs

Samples from selected floor and table top surfaces in SW units in each round, samples were collected at 8 AM, 11 AM and 4 PM on the same day.

### 4.6.1.3.5. Surface sampling procedure in brief:

During sample collection from housekeeping surfaces (from Table and Floor), nutrient broth moisten cotton swab was used to swab the selected sites by rubbing over  $25 \text{cm}^2$  areas (86). To make the sample size reproducible, the area of sample collection was marked out with sterile template of known dimensions (a flat square stainless steel) with a 5 cm x 5 cm hole cut out in which the inner edges of the hole was swabbed. Then immediately, the tip of the swab was aseptically placed into a tube containing a 5ml sterile elution solution of nutrient broth for elution of bacteria from the swab used to sample the surface. To facilitate the elution process and suspend material from the sampling device and break up clumps of organisms (if any) for a more accurate count, the swab within the elution solution was mixed by a mechanical mixing using a vortex mixer for around 60 seconds (45, 79). Stepwise protocol of housekeeping surface sample collection is explained in annex-III.

Note: The sample collection time (for air and housekeeping surfaces) is selected based on the study objective and different literature search (45, 46, 79, 87, 88).

### 4.6.2. Specimen transportation

Air specimens after being collected by settle plate method, it was transported immediately from the hospital by using clean container to Microbiology Laboratory for processing. Environmental surface specimens were also transported in to Microbiology Laboratory for processing by placing the swabs in to the test tubes having elusion solution. As soon as it reaches the laboratory, it was processed.

#### 4.6.3. Isolation of bacteria

For the initial aerobic colony counting of the bacteria, growth medium with low selectivity like plat count agar (Oxoid, UK) for housekeeping surface samples and blood agar (Oxoid, UK) for air samples were used. To detect and isolate a particular type of bacterial species, 7 % sheep blood agar, mannitol salt agar (MSA) (Oxoid, UK) and MacConkey agar (Oxoid, UK) were used in the study accordingly (48, 49, 79, 88).

The blood agar plate on which air sample collected was incubated for 24 hours at  $37c^{\circ}$ . Suspected possible pathogenic bacteria (if any) were sub cultured in to nutrient broth to get pure culture. Moreover, further sub culture in to Blood agar, MSA and MacConkey agar were made to make presumptive identification of bacteria based on colony texture and Gram stain.

Additionally, part of the rinse fluid of housekeeping surface sample was directly inoculated onto Blood agar, MSA and MacConkey agar soon after the sample was reached to the Microbiology laboratory for possible pathogenic bacteria identification after incubating these media at 37 c<sup>o</sup> for 24 hours aerobically.

For accurate quantification of the total bacteria, the specimen should be normally diluted appropriately to make the cells within the range of 30-300 CFU bacteria per Petri dish. In the present study, a 1ml housekeeping surface sample diluted with 5ml rinse fluid was directly inoculated in to the culture media (without further dilution) using pour plat technique (Annex VI) for total colony count in plate count agar. This was estimated based on an assumption of a short microbiological study conducted in JUSH pediatric ward (unpublished data) by the department of Microbiology, Immunology and Parasitology, Jimma University to assess the bacterial contamination level in the milk preparation room environment of the ward where the total number of colonies did not exceed from the range of 30-300 CFU in a plate (89, 90).

#### 4.6.3.1. Colony enumeration for indoor air samples

After incubation of air samples at  $37c^{\circ}$  for 24 hours, culture plates that showed discrete macroscopic colonies was counted using plat colony counter (48, 49, 79).

#### 4.6.3.2. Identification of bacteria in indoor air samples

After colony count, the colonies were assessed for the growth of potential pathogenic bacteria. These were done initially by colony morphology, hemolysis pattern shown on settle plate blood agar and microscopic examination using Gram stain. These suspected colonies were sub cultured on to appropriate media (MSA, MacConkey and blood agar) accordingly for further identification following the standard bacteriological procedure and different biochemical tests indicated in medical laboratory manual for tropical countries in volume two (microbiology) (89) and WHO document on basic laboratory procedures in clinical bacteriology (90).

#### 4.6.3.3. Colony enumeration from environmental surface samples

After appropriate incubation, culture plates that show discrete macroscopic colonies were enumerated using plat colony counter. The number of discrete colony forming units (CFU) was calculated interms of CFU/cm<sup>2</sup> for samples taken for environmental surfaces (32).

#### 4.6.3.4 Identification of bacteria from environmental surface samples

Presumptive identification of the colonies were done by observing their individual colony morphology and hemolysis pattern on blood agar as well as their growth in different culture media like MSA, MacConkey and blood agar. Further identification was made by carrying out different biochemical tests following the standard bacteriological procedure indicated in medical laboratory manual for tropical countries in volume two (microbiology) (89) and WHO document on basic laboratory procedures in clinical bacteriology (90).

#### 4.6.3.5. Biochemical and other identification tests

Different biochemical tests were used to identify the genus or/and species of bacterial isolates from both housekeeping surfaces and indoor air. These testes includ catalases test, coagulase test, lactose fermentation, glucose fermentation, gas production, lysine decarboxylation, hydrogen sulfide production, motility test, indole production, citrate utilization, mannitol fermentation, urea production, optochin susceptibility, bacitracin susceptibility and oxidase test as described by Cheesbrough (89) and WHO document on basic laboratory procedures in clinical bacteriology (90). All of the biochemical media were from Oxoid, UK.

#### 4.6.4. Antibiotic susceptibility testing

Antimicrobial susceptibility testing (AST) was performed by disk diffusion method. This method is one of the most commonly used AST methods among diagnostic laboratories (91, 92). In a survey conducted in New York state laboratories, more than 50% of the laboratories used disk diffusion AST. Kirby-Bauer and Stokes methods are usually used for antimicrobial susceptibility testing in disc diffusion type, with the Kirby-Bauer method being recommended by the Clinical and laboratory standards institute (CLSI) (93).

A McFarland 0.5 turbidity standard was used to adjust the inoculum. The test organisms (bacterial isolates) was grown in nutrient broth and incubated for 4-6 hours at 37<sup>o</sup>C until the turbidity was matched with the prepared McFarland standard.

The AST for all potential pathogenic bacteria isolated from the air and environmental surfaces was performed using different antibiotics discs panels. The selection of antibiotic disks was based on clinical relevance (94), representativeness of antibiotics for the group, literature search (73, 95) as well as epidemiological information (their usage in the study area by contacting health personnel in surgical ward). A total of 13 different antibiotics were used which include: ampicillin (AML, 10  $\mu$ g), ceftriaxone (CRO, 30  $\mu$ g), cephalothin (KF, 30  $\mu$ g), chloramphenicol (C, 30  $\mu$ g), ciprofloxacin (Cf, 5  $\mu$ g), erythromycin (E, 15  $\mu$ g), gentamicin (CN, 10  $\mu$ g), methicillin (Met, 5  $\mu$ g), penicillin G (P, 10 IU), tetracycline (T, 30  $\mu$ g), trimethoprimsulphamethoxazole (SXT, 1.25/23.75  $\mu$ g), oxacillin (Ox, 1  $\mu$ g) and vancomycin (VA, 30  $\mu$ g) (Annex-IV).

After matching the inoculum with a prepared 0.5 McFarland standard, it was inoculated in to Muller Hinton agar (Oxoid, UK) using sterile cotton swab. The appropriate antibiotic discs were aseptically placed on the inoculated Muller Hinton agar using sterile forceps. The plates were then incubated at 37c<sup>o</sup> for 18-24 h. The degree of susceptibility of the test isolate to each antibiotic was interpreted according to the principles established by CLSI as sensitive (S), intermediate (I) or resistant (R) by measuring the zone diameter of inhibition in millimeter using ruler (94).

## 4.7. Quality control issues

### 4.7.1. During culture media preparation

Culture media was prepared strictly following manufacturer's instructions or according to approved formulations. The prepared media was placed in refrigerator (if not immediately used) and to cheek the sterility of the preparation, one plate (prior to inoculation) in each batch of media prepared was incubated at  $37c^{\circ}$  for 24 hour to look for any growth.

### 4.7.2. During sample collection

The air sampling was performed by wearing sterile gloves, mouth masks and protective gown to prevent self contamination of the samples. The blood agar plate was cheeked visually for any bacterial growth before collection in order to prevent contamination of the media.

### 4.7.3. During sample processing

The incubation temperature was monitored using thermometer and the incubation time was followed. In general, aseptic bacteriological procedures were strictly followed at each stapes in sample processing.

In order to monitor miss identification (false positive and false negative culture results) and in order to cheek antibiotic disc potency, control organisms were used. Control organisms that were used include *S. aureus* (ATCC25923), *E. coli* (ATCC 25922) and *P. aeruginosa* (ATCC 27853) which were brought from Ethiopian Health and Nutrition Research Institute - Addis Ababa; Ethiopia.

### 4.8. Data processing & analysis

The data was processed for descriptive statistics using SPSS version 16 and Microsoft Excel.

In the analysis and interpretation of results obtained from air samples taken from SW and OR units, scientifically determined baseline values (annex-V) initially suggested by Fisher in the 1970s and now widely adopted by different organizations like the European cooperation for Accreditation of Laboratories (48, 49) together with different literatures was used.

The analysis and interpretation of results obtained from environmental surface samples, in the same way to air samples, a proposed microbiologic standard values for hospitals by S.J. Dancer (32) and different literatures was used.

### 4.9. Ethical issue

The study was commenced after obtaining separate permission from Jimma University ethical review board and from the management of Jimma university specialized hospital.

# **CHAPTER FIVE: RESULTS**

### 5.1. Bacterial load of indoor air

The bacterial load of 108 indoor air samples (36 from ORs and 72 from SWs) showed wide range of variation. The highest mean aerobic colony count was observed from FR-1 and FR-2 of SWs which were 465 and 461 CFU/hr respectively (Table-1)

**Table 1.** Total aerobic bacterial load of indoor air from SW and Critical Zone of ORs in JUSH;October -January, 2009/2010

	Rooms	Aerobic colony	Sta	Standard (cfu/hr)48, 49									
	sampled	count/hr; No♥.											
		(mean value)											
			Optimal	Acceptable	Unacceptable								
SW units	FR-1	18 (465)	0-250	251-450	>450								
	MR-1	18 (416)	0-250	251-450	>450								
	FR-2	18 (461)	0-250	251-450	>450								
	MR-2	18 (352)	0-250	251-450	>450								
<b>OR units</b>	OR1-A	2 (43)	0-60	61-90	>91								
(Critical	OR1-P	4 (46)	0-4	5-8	>9								
Zone)	OR2-A	4 (92)	0-60	61-90	>91								
	OR2-P	2 (28)	0-4	5-8	>9								

FR-1: Female room-1FR-2: Female room-2OR1-A: OR1- activeMR-1: Male room-1MR-2 Male room-2OR2-A: OR2- activeOR1-P: OR1- passiveOR2-P: OR2- passive♥: Number of samples taken

Similarly, the highest colony count was observed in OR-2 especially when the room was active (Table-1). Moreover, both FCR (Intermediate Zone) and PR (Non- Critical Zone) of ORs showed abnormally increased colony counts. The colony counts in all ORs except SCS were higher in the afternoon than in the morning (Figure-2).





Intermediate Zone - - - - - ► (SR: Sterilizing room, PR: Packing room, SMS: Sterilized material store) Non- Critical Zone - - - - ► (FCR: Female clothing room, MCR: Male clothing room, SCS: Sterilized cloth store)

### 5.2. Potential pathogenic bacteria isolated from indoor air

Out of 108 air samples collected, 3 isolates of *S. pyogenes* from SWs and 48 isolates of *S. aureus* (70.8 % from SWs and 29.2 % from ORs) were identified. From ORs, the isolation rate (66.7%) of *S. aureus* was significantly higher in Critical Zone than Intermediate and non Critical Zone (p<0.001). Additionally, *S. aureus* was frequently isolated in FR-2 and MR-2 of SW units (Figure-3).



**Figure 3**. Isolation rates of potential pathogenic bacteria from indoor air in SW and OR units at JUSH; October -January, 2009/2010: % of isolation (No. of isolates)

FR-1: Female room-1FR-2: Female room-2OR-C: OR-critical zoneMR-1: Male room-1MR-2 Male room-2OR-I: OR-intermediate zoneOR-NC: OR-non critical zone

### 5.3. Bacterial load in the housekeeping surfaces

The bacterial load of 144 housekeeping surfaces (72 from ORs and SWs each) showed that the mean aerobic colony count of Floor and Table Top Surfaces were 10 and 6  $cfu/cm^2$  for ORs whereas 19 and 34  $cfu/cm^2$  for SWs respectively. Samples taken from Floors of the Intermediate Zone of ORs and MR-2 of SWs showed the highest colony counts which were 14.8 and 26.4 CFU/  $cm^2$  respectively. On the other hand, the Table Top Surface samples from FR-1 of SWs and Intermediate Zone of ORs revealed the highest colony count which account 40.7 and 7.3 CFU/  $cm^2$  respectively (Figure-4).



Figure 4. Aerobic colony count from housekeeping surfaces of OR and SW units in JUSH; October -January, 2009/2010

PS: Proposed standard

### 5.4. Potential pathogenic bacteria isolated from housekeeping surfaces

Potential pathogenic bacteria were isolated from 83 of the 144 housekeeping surface samples of which 29 were from ORs and 54 were from SWs. The isolation rates of potential pathogenic bacteria were 40.3% in ORs and 75% in SWs.

Among gram negative bacterial isolates in ORs, *E. coli* was the leading one accounting 38.9% of the isolates followed by *P. aeruginosa* which is 22.2%. On the other hand, *Klebsiella* spp. was most frequently isolated bacteria accounting 27.1% followed by *E. coli* accounting 18.6% from samples taken from housekeeping surfaces of SWs (Figure-5).





♣ Includes: K. pneumoniae, K. oxytoca, K. rhinose and K. ozenae

Additionally, potential pathogenic Gram positive bacteria were also isolated in 49 of these surface samples (33 isolates from SWs and 16 isolates from ORs). Unexpectedly, all of these isolates (except one isolates of *S. pyogenes* in SWs) were *S. aureus* in both ORs and SWs.

The number of Gram negative bacterial isolates in ORs was comparable to their counter parts. However, there were un proportional distributions of Gram negative bacteria (unlike Gram positives) in ORs with the highest frequency being in Critical Zone (55.6%) (Figure-6).



**Figure 6**. Frequency of Gram negative bacterial isolates from housekeeping surfaces in Critical, Intermediate and Non-Critical Zone of OR in JUSH; October -January, 2009/2010: % (Number of isolates)

### 5.5. Antibiotic susceptibility pattern of isolates

The antibiotic susceptibility test was done for all Gram negative and Gram positive bacterial isolates.

The susceptibility patterns of isolates revealed varying degrees of resistance and sensitivity to the antibiotics tested (Table-2 and Table-3). In the present study, S. aureus showed 100% resistance to methicillin, 82.3% to ampicillin, 77.1% to penicillin and the list resistance which is 9.3% was observed for ciprofloxacin. On the other hand, S. aureus isolates were 100% sensitive for vancomycin (Table-2).

Table 2. Antibiotic resistance pattern of Gram positive bacterial isolates from indoor air and housekeeping surfaces of OR and SW units in JUSH; October -January, 2009/2010

					Antib	iotics t	ested										
No.(%)of resistance																	
Organis	Р	Amp	Т	С	KF	Met	Met Ox		Cf	Cro	SXT	Е	V				
ms													a				
S. aureus	74	79	48	37	36	96	88	25	9	37	43	51	0				
( <b>n=96</b> )	(77.	(82.	(50	(38.	(37.	(10	(91.	(26	(9.3	(38.	(44.	(53.	(0				
	1)	3)	)	5)	5)	0)	7)	)	)	5)	8)	1)	)				
<i>S</i> .	1	2	1	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-				
pyogenes	(25)	(50)	(25	(0)								(25)					
( <b>n=4</b> )			)														
Total	75	81	49	37	36	96	88	25	9	37	43	52	0				
( <b>n=100</b> )	(75)	(81)	(49	(37)	(36)	(96)	(88)	(25	(9)	(37)	(43)	(52)	(0				
			)					)					)				
P: Penicillin				Met	Methici	llin	SXT	T. Trimethonrim-sulphamethoyazole									
Amp: Ampic	cillin			Ox:	Oxacilli	n	E: E	Erythron	nycin	sarpina							
T: Tetracycli	ne			CN:	Gentam	icin	Va:	Vanco									

C: Chloramphenicol KF: Cephalothin

Cf: Ciprofloxacin Cro: Ceftriaxone

Va: Vancomycin

The antibiotic resistance pattern of Gram negative bacterial isolates from housekeeping surfaces of OR and SWs test results showed that *Klebsiella* spp were greater than 65% resistant for all antibiotics tested except for ciprofloxacin which was 6.3%. Similarly, *E. coli, Citrobacter* spp and *Enterobacter* spp showed greater than 83% resistance for ampicillin and cephalothin. On the other hand, ciprofloxacin showed 100% sensitivity for *Citrobacter* spp, *P. aeruginosa*, *Enterobacter* spp and *Acinetobacter* spp (Table-3).

**Table 3.** Antibiotic resistance pattern of Gram negative bacterial isolates from housekeepingsurfaces of OR and SW units in JUSH; October- January, 2009/2010

			Antibi	otics teste	d									
No.(%)of resistance														
Organisms	Amp	Т	С	KF	CN	Cf	Cro	SXT						
Klebsiella	16	11	12	16	12	1	11	14						
<b>spp▲</b> (n=16)	(100)	(68.8)	(75)	(100)	(75)	(6.3)	(68.8)	(87.5)						
E. coli	15	8	9	14	6	1	2	10						
( <b>n=16</b> )	(93.8)	(50)	(56.3)	(87.5)	(37.5)	(6.3)	(12.5)	(62.5)						
Citrobacter	10	3	7	10	5	0	3	6						
spp (n=10)	(100)	(30)	(70)	(100)	(50)	(0)	(30)	(60)						
Enterobacter	5	4	3	6	2	0	2	3						
<b>spp</b> ( <b>n=6</b> )	(83.3)	(66.7)	(50)	(100)	(33.3)	(0)	(33.3)	(50)						
P. aeruginosa	-	1	6	-	3	0	1	5						
( <b>n=8</b> )		(12.5)	(75)		(37.5)	(0)	(12.5)	(62.5)						
Acinetobacter	-	0	2	-	1	0	0	1						
<b>spp</b> ( <b>n</b> =2)		(0)	(100)		(50)	(0)	(0)	(50)						
Total (n=58)	46	27	39	46	29	2	19	39						
	(79.3)	(46.6)	(67.2)	(79.3)	(50)	(3.5)	(32.8)	(67.2)						

♠ Include Klebsiella pneumonia, K. oxytoca, K. rhinose and K. ozenae

Antibiotic abbreviations are explained in table 3

# CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

# 6.1. Discussion

Hospital environment may not be a place where people get well but may also be a place where sick people get sicker because of HAI; bacterial contamination of hospital environment being one factor (51).

In the present study, the mean aerobic colony counts of FR-1 and FR-2 of the SW units, OR-1 when it was passive and OR-2 when it was both passive and active were beyond the recommended acceptable range of CFU when it is compared to the bacteriological standard set by Fisher *et al* (48) and Pasquarella *et al* (49). The possible reason for this might be due to high turnover of people particularly students as it is a teaching hospital. Additionally, the age and design of the hospital and its surrounding environment might also contribute for the current high aerobic bacterial load observed in these rooms.

The aerobic bacterial load in OR (Critical Zone) air was became 1.82 times more when these rooms were active compared with when they were at rest. This finding goes in line with the study conducted by Suzuki A *et al* (50) and a standard by Fisher *et al* (48) which explained that the bacterial load of indoor air of OR is higher when OR is active than when it is passive.

The mean indoor air aerobic colony count (ACC) obtained in the present study which is 463 CFU for FSW, 384 CFU for MSW and 58 CFU for OR (Critical Zone) (Table 1) were incomparable with a study conducted in Nigeria in 2007 by Oytayo VO *et al* that was reported as the mean ACC of 42, 31 and 3 CFU in FSW, MSW and OR respectively (51). The variation observed in these two study results might include; 1) difference in representativeness of study subject where 108 indoor air samples analyzed in the present study compaired to only 12 samples processed in the former study and 2) differences in the turnover of the people of these two hospitals. However, the high mean aerobic colony count observed in these rooms might be an indication of high environmental contamination level of JUSH.

Moreover, in the present study the total indoor air aerobic bacterial load of Critical Zone was 58 CFU whereas the load in the Intermediate Zone and non Critical Zone of ORs were 246 and 76 CFU respectively (Figure 2). The finding of the present study in this regard goes in contrary to a study conducted by Suzuki A *et al* (1984) that the mean bacterial load of non Critical Zone was twice than in the Intermediate Zone (50). The high colony count shown in Intermediate Zone when compaired to non Critical Zone of ORs in the present study might be due to high number of people (staffs and students) were using Intermediate Zone where as few people were likely working in non Critical Zone.

The bacterial profile of indoor air sample showed that *S. aureus* was the most frequently isolated species among potential pathogenic bacteria isolated in both SW and OR units. The isolation rate of *S. aureus* was higher in Critical Zone (66.7 %) than Intermediate (25%) and non Critical (25%) Zone of OR. Moreover, the isolation rate of *S. aureus* in Female room-2 and Male room-2 was twice than Female room-1 and Male room-1 of SW units (Figure 3). This variation may be explained by differences in the presence and number of carrier as well as infected people and difference in cleaning procedures which are risk factors that affects the load of *S. aureus* in the air as it was suggested by Chikere BC *et al* (10) and Suzuki A *et al* (43).

Only 3 isolates of *S. pyogenes* and no Gram negative bacteria were identified from a total of 108 air samples examined. This might be due to the inability of Gram negative bacteria to survive for a long period in the aerosolized state as it was explained by Beggs BC (67) and to resist harsh conditions like drying (47, 96) when they are compared to their counter parts. This might be also true for low isolation rate of streptococci as these bacteria have relatively low survival time in the environment since they are fastidious and susceptible for environmental stress by their nature (97).

The mean ACC obtained for housekeeping surfaces; Tables with 34 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup> (P<0.001) and Floor with 19 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup> (P<0.001) in SWs as well as Floor with 10 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup> in ORs (P=0.009) in the present study is significantly higher than the set ACC standards (< 5 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup>) for hand contact surfaces (32). Whereas the mean ACC 6 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup> obtained for Tables in ORs though higher compared with the set standard, it was not statistically significant (P=0.164) (Figure 4). The highest ACC from housekeeping surfaces was also seen in Sterilized Cloth Store (SCS) of Intermediate Zone (18 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup>) and in Critical Zone (10 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup>) of ORs. These results are in contrary to the study conducted by Hambraeus A *et al* (58) where ACC in dressing room of Intermediate Zone and Critical Zone of ORs was reported to be 7 and 0.72 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup> respectively. The highest ACC obtained in the present study could be increased movement of people in the rooms as it is a teaching hospital and cleaning of the entire SCS might not be appropriately done because the room (crowded with a lot of clothes) is relatively smaller in size than other rooms in the Intermediate Zone.

Unlike to indoor air samples, both Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria were isolated in samples taken from housekeeping surfaces. The distribution of potential pathogenic bacteria isolated from these surfaces was comparable with studies conducted on hospital environment by Oytayo VO *et al* (51), Wolde Tenssay Z (73) and Chikere BC *et al* (10). The most frequently isolated bacteria in the present study includes *S. aureus* (48 isolates) which is frequently responsible for SSI through air born transmission in SWs and ORs (67) followed by *Klebsiella* spp and *E. coli* (16 isolates each). One of the possible reason that *S. aureus, Klebsiella* spp and *E. coli* were frequently isolated than other bacteria may be due to their long survival time in the hospital environment (31).

Unexpectedly, high frequencies of potential pathogenic Gram negative bacteria were isolated in Critical Zone than in Intermediate and non Critical Zone of ORs and similarly in Female rooms than Male rooms of SWs. The high load of pathogenic bacteria in Critical Zone observed in the present study (Figure 6) may be due to uncontrolled (now and then) opening of OR doors and high movement of students in each surgical procedure during the study period.

In a study by Wolde Tenssay Z (from clinical and hospital environment) indicates *S. aureus* were 93% resistant to ampicillin whereas *E. coli*, *Klebsiella* species and *Enterobacter* species were 100% resistant for ampicillin (73). These is almost comparable with the present study (Table 2 and Table 3) where the sensitivity pattern of *Klebsiella* species, *E. coli*, *Enterobacter* species and *S. aureus* to ampicillin were 100%, 93.8%, 83.3% and 82.3% resistance respectively. Similarly, *S. aureus* also showed 100 % resistance for methicillin and 77.1% for penicillin whereas *Klebsiella* spp, *Citrobacter* spp and *Enterobacter* spp were resistant to ceftriaxone (third generation cephalosporins) with 68.8%, 30% and 33.3% respectively.

Generally most of Enterobacteriaceae isolated in the present study showed higher rate of resistance for most of antibiotic tested. This is to say that multi drug resistant Enterobacteriaceae were seen in more than 90% of isolates. On average, each Enterobacteriaceae isolate showed resistance for 4.4 antibiotics. This may be due to  $\beta$ -lactamases and extended spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamases (ESBLs) producing Enterobacteriaceae are now relatively common in healthcare settings and often exhibit multidrug resistance including for recent antibiotics (newer generation cephalosporin groups and quinolones) and also responsible for different outbreaks and HAIs as it was explained by Hobson RP *et al* (66) Paterson LD (71) and Jones NR (72). Fortunately, ciprofloxacin was identified as the most effective antibiotics even with 100% sensitivity for *P. aeruginosa, Enterobacter, Citrobacter* and *Acinetobacter* species isolated in the present study. Hence, this drug might be used for the treatment of HAI in the health care settings taking it as a best option.

# 6.1.1. Limitation of the study

1. During sample collection by settle plate method, because the plate is new in the environment for patients, health personnel and visitors; they were giving attentions especially at the first round of sample collection. This may, to some extent, hinder the natural movement of air in the area that will affect the result.

### 6.2. Conclusion

Almost all indoor air samples except OR-1 when active and non-Critical Zone of ORs showed higher mean aerobic bacterial load compared to the standard (48). Thus, the bacterial load of indoor air was high which is considered as a risk factor for SSI since there is a linear relationship between bacteria count in air (operating rooms and surgical ward) and surgical site infection rate (39). Similarly, housekeeping surfaces also showed high mean aerobic bacterial load ranging from 5 to 41 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup>. As indicated in the standard (32), the presence of ACC in 1cm<sup>2</sup> of housekeeping surfaces higher than 5 CFU (as observed in the present study) is an indication of increased risk of infection for the patient in that environment.

Over all, the possible reason for the high bacterial load obtained in OR and SW units in the present study could be due to high number of people (including patients, visitors and health professionals) in the room, inappropriate cleaning procedures, high amount of materials brought in from outside, environmental disturbances, delayed maintenance and inappropriate ventilation as indicated by different researchers (43, 45, 46, 76).

In the present study, *S. aureus* which is the most important cause of SSI (47) was the most frequently isolated bacteria with isolation rate of 38.9 and 47.2% in indoor air of ORs and SWs respectively. Moreover, the isolation rate of this bacterium in housekeeping surface was 22.2% for ORs and 44.4% for SWs. Surprisingly, most of pathogenic bacteria isolated from housekeeping samples in OR were from Critical Zone (the zone where the actual surgical procedure is undergoing). In general, Enterobacteriaceae were most frequently isolated (53 isolates) from housekeeping samples which were also resistant for most of antibiotics used in the study area as a current treatment option. These poses a high risk for SSI since the bacteria isolated can persist for a long period (31, 49, 95) acting as a potential source of HAI (15) since they are frequently involved in different HAI as well as outbreaks (13, 60, 64, 65, 66). Thus, the present study results indicated that ORs and SWs of JUSH have high risk of SSI for the patient and high risk of infection for the health personnel as well. So the hospital (mainly the general surgical department) should implement appropriate infection prevention measures to reduce the environmental bacterial contamination level of the OR and SW units.

### 6.3. Recommendation

All the bacteria isolated in the present study were implicated in different HAIs and have the potential to cause outbreaks due to their presence in hospital environment (63, 65, 66, 74, 98). Though the exact reason why the total aerobic colony count and potential pathogenic bacteria was high in the present study needs further research, there are different measures which are known to reduce the total bacterial load and potential pathogenic bacteria to the optimal level. Thus, measures like reducing foot trafficking in and out of the OR, improving the ventilation system, appropriate educational intervention on routine cleaning which is under implementation, programmatic intervention and enhanced cleaning (50, 57, 76, 77) are known to reduce the total bacterial load.

So based on the findings of the present study, the following actions should be taken to improve the bacteriological quality of the ORs and SWs environment in JUSH for the sake of patient, health personnel and visitor safety by minimizing the rate of HAI. Thus, the management of General Surgical Department should reduce the overall bacterial burden of air and housekeeping surfaces of OR and SW units with especially emphasis on units which are found to have high bacterial burden by implementing an appropriate infection prevention measures. Some of the measures which are effective in infection prevention and control and can be implemented with a minimal cost by the department include;

- Educational intervention targeted mainly on hospital hygienic staffs and other health professionals to improve the existing cleaning system in the department,
- Programmatic intervention (arrangement) on the existing cleaning system in the department
- Enhancing the existing cleaning system by;
  - $\checkmark$  Increasing the number of cleaner
  - $\checkmark$  Increasing the cleaning time per week
  - $\checkmark$  Improving the ventilation system
- Reducing foot trafficking in and out of the ORs specially related to out proportion of students

The overall infection control measures should be with appropriate educational and programmatic intervention along with (if possible) appropriate culture based surveillance to evaluate the system.

Generally, the appropriate infection control measure is implemented when and only when the appropriate source of bacterial contamination is identified which needs further research and well designed study. Adapting and implementing recommendations and infection prevention strategies found in "INFECTION PREVENTION GUIDELINES for Healthcare Facilities in Ethiopia" (81) prepared by the Federal Ministry of Health-Ethiopia is surely helpful.

Additionally, health professionals who are involved in antibiotic prescription (in addition to appropriate infection prevention system and culture based surveillance (if possible)) should consider the current antibiotic susceptibility pattern of the bacteria to reduce the occurrence and spread of resistant pathogens since most of the bacteria are developing resistance for the antibiotics used currently in the study area as it is shown in the present study. Since susceptibility pattern of bacterial isolate showed a great variation, the hospital needs to seek proper antibiotic susceptibility testing services to have the best possible treatment choice for the patient.

Finally, it will be better if the hospital encourages the microbiology unit of Medical Laboratory Sciences and Pathology department to perform the culture based hospital-wide surveillance (which is important in the characterization and control of healthcare-associated infections and antimicrobial resistance (15) part of infection control system periodically.

## 6.3.1 Further research questions

- 1. Exact causes of high bacterial load from indoor air in OR and SW of JUSH
- 2. Is the distribution of bacteria and antibiotic susceptibility pattern from patient samples comparable with the present findings?
- 3. Evaluation of infection prevention system in OR and SW of JUSH
- 4. Molecular characterization of environmental and clinical isolates of Enterobacteriaceae (including other Gram negative bacteria) and *S. aureus* in OR and SW of JUSH.

#### REFERENCES

- Garner JS, Jarvis WR, Emori TG, Horan TC, Hughes JM. CDC definitions for nosocomial infections. In: Olmsted RN, ed.: APIC Infection Control and Applied Epidemiology: Principles and Practice. St. Louis: Mosby; 1996: pp. A-1-A-20.
- WHO. Prevention of hospital-acquired infections: A practical guide. Malta: Department of communicable Disease, Surveillance and Response; 2002. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/whocdscsreph200212.pdf</u>. Accessed on: may 15, 2009.
- 3. Runner JC. Bacterial and viral contamination of reusable sharps containers in a community hospital setting. *Am J Infect Control* 2007; 35: 527-30.
- Jroundi I, Khoudri I, Azzouzi A, et al. Prevalence of hospital-acquired infection in a Moroccan university hospital. *Am J Infect Control* 2007; 35: 412-6.
- Kallel H, Bahoul M, Ksibi H, et al. Prevalence of hospital-acquired infection in a Tunisian hospital. J Hosp Infect 2005; 59: 343-7.
- Gikas A, Pediaditisy J, Papadakis AJ, Starakis J, et al. Prevalence study of hospitalacquired infections in 14 Greek hospitals: planning from the local to the national surveillance level. *J Hosp Infect* 2002; 50: 269-75.
- Sa´nchez-Paya´ J , Bischofberger C, Lizan M. Nosocomial infection surveillance and control: current situation in Spanish hospitals. *J Hosp Infect* 2009; 72: 50-6.
- Raka L, Zoutman D, Mulliqi G et al. Prevalence of Nosocomial Infections in High-Risk Units in the University Clinical Center of Kosova. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2006; 27: 421-3.
- Apisarnthanarak A, Fraser JV. Feasibility and Efficacy of Infection-Control Interventions to Reduce the Number of Nosocomial Infections and Drug-Resistant Microorganisms in Developing Countries: What Else Do We Need? *Clin Infect Dis* 2009; 48:22–4
- 10. Chikere BC, Omoni TV, Chikere OB. Distribution of potential nosocomial pathogens in a hospital environment. *Afr J Biotechnol* 2008; 7: 3535-9.
- Gedebou M, Kronvall G, Habte-Gebre E, Ringertz S. The bacteriology of nosocomial infections at Tikur Anbessa Teaching Hospital, Addis Ababa. *Acta Pathol Microbiol Immunol Scand* 1987; 95: 331-6.

- Hota B. Contamination, Disinfection, and Cross-Colonization: Are Hospital Surfaces Reservoirs for Nosocomial Infection? *Clin Infect Dis* 2004; 39: 1182–9.
- 13. Das I, Lambert P, Hill D, Noy M, Bion J, Elliott T. Carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter* and role of curtains in an outbreak in intensive care units. *J Hosp Infect* 2002; 50:110–4.
- 14. Dorsey G, Borneo TH, Sun JS, et al. Heterogeneous outbreak of *Enterobacter cloacae* and *Serratia marcescens* infections in a surgical intensive care unit. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2000; 21: 465-9.
- 15. Dancer JS. The role of environmental cleaning in the control of hospital-acquired infection (review). *J Hosp Infect* 2009; 73: 378-85.
- Talaat M, Kandeel A, Rasslan O, Hajjeh R, Hallaj Z, El-Sayed N, Mahoney JF. Evolution of infection control in Egypt: Achievements and challenges. *Am J Infect Control* 2006; 34: 193-200.
- 17. Curtis TL. Prevention of hospital-acquired infections: review of non-pharmacological interventions. *J Hosp Infect* 2008; 69: 204-19.
- Fabbro-Peray P, Sotto A, Defez C, et al. Mortality Attributable to Nosocomial Infection: A Cohort of Patients With and Without Nosocomial Infection in a French University Hospital. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2007; 28: 265-72.
- Zimmerman AP. Help or hindrance? Is current infection control advice applicable in lowand middle-income countries? A review of the literature. *Am J Infect Control* 2007; 35: 494-500.
- De Zoysa H, Morecroft E. Cleaning, disinfection and sterilization of equipment. Anaesth. *Intensive Care Med* 2007; 8: 453–6.
- WHO (Regional Office for South-East Asia). Guidelines on Prevention and Control of Hospital Associated Infections. New Delhi. 2002. Available at: <u>http://www.searo.who.int/LinkFiles/Publications\_hlm-343.pdf</u>. Accessed on April 23, 2009.
- 22. Imai E, Ueda M, Kanao K, Kubota T, Hasegawa H, Omae K, Kitajima M. Surgical site infection risk factors identified by multivariate analysis for patient undergoing laparoscopic, open colon, and gastric surgery. *Am J Infect Control* 2008; 36: 727-31.

- Roumbelaki M, Kritsotakis IE, Tsioutis C, Tzilepi P, Gikas A. Surveillance of surgical site infections at a tertiary care hospital in Greece: Incidence, risk factors, microbiology, and impact. *Am J Infect Control* 2008; 36: 732-8.
- Yalqin NA, Bakir M, Bakici Z, Diikmetqs I, Sabir N. Postoperative wound infections. J Hosp Infect 1995; 29: 305-9.
- 25. Fehr J, Hatz C, Soka I et al. Risk Factors for Surgical Site Infection in a Tanzanian District Hospital: A Challenge for the Traditional National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance System Index. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2006; 27: 1401-4.
- 26. Gina Pugliese. Nosocomial infection surveillance and control programs in the United States. Chicago. Available at: <u>http://www.eurasiahealth.org/attaches/81586/210.pdf</u>. Accessed on: May 12, 2009.
- Dharan S, Pittet D. Environmental controls in operating theatres (review). J Hosp Infect 2002; 51: 79-84.
- 28. Siegel DJ, Rhinehart E, Jackson M, Chiarello L. Management of multidrug-resistant organisms in health care settings, 2006. *Am J Infect Control* 2007; 35: S165-93.
- 29. Brachman PS. Nosocomial infection control: an over view. Rev Infect Dis 1981; 4: 640-8.
- 30. Landrin A, Bissery A, Kac G. Monitoring air sampling in operating theatres: can particle counting replace microbiological sampling? *J Hosp Infect* 2005; 61: 27–9.
- 31. Gastmeier P, Schwab F, Barwolff S, Ruden H, Grundmann H. correlation between the genetic diversity of nosocomial pathogens and their survival time in intensive care units. *J Hosp Infect* 2006; 62: 181-6.
- 32. Dancer JS. How do we assess hospital cleaning? A proposal for microbiological standards for surface hygiene in hospitals. *J Hosp Infect* 2004; 56: 10–15.
- 33. Muto CA, Jernigan JA, Ostrowsky BE, et al. SHEA guideline for preventing nosocomial transmission of multidrug-resistant strains of *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Enterococcus*. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2003; 24: 362-86.
- 34. Farr MB, Salgado DC, Karchmer BT, Sherertz JR. Can antibiotic-resistant nosocomial infections be controlled? *Lancet Infect Dis* 2001; 1: 38–45.
- Drees M, Snydman RD, Schmid HC, et al. Prior Environmental Contamination Increases the Risk of Acquisition of Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci. *Clin Infect Dis* 2008; 46: 678–85.

- 36. Bhalla A, Pultz JN, Gries MD, Ray JA, Eckstein CE, Aron CD, Donskey JC. Acquisition of Nosocomial Pathogens on Hands After Contact With Environmental Surfaces Near Hospitalized Patients. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2004; 25: 164-7.
- 37. Bottone JE, Cheng M, Hymes S. Ineffectiveness of Hand washing With Lotion Soap to Remove Nosocomial Bacterial Pathogens Persisting on Fingertips: A Major Link in Their Intra hospital Spread. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2004;25: 262-4.
- 38. Dascalaki GE, Gaglia GA, Balaras AC, Lagoudi A. Indoor environmental quality in Hellenic hospital operating rooms. *Energy and Buildings* 2009; 41: 551–60.
- 39. Fleischer M, Bober-Gheek B, Bortkiewicz O, Rusiecka-Ziólkowska J. Microbiological Control of Airborne Contamination in Hospitals. *Indoor Build Environ* 2006; 15: 53–6.
- 40. Griffith JC, Cooper AR, Gilmore J, Davies C, Lewis M. An evaluation of hospital cleaning regimes and Standards. *J Hosp Infect* 2000; 45: 19–28.
- 41. Waghorn DJ, Wan WY, Greaves C, Whittome N, Bosley H A, Cantrill S. Contamination of computer keyboards in clinical areas: potential reservoir for nosocomial spread of organisms. *British Journal of Infection Control* 2005; 6: 21-4
- 42. Trillis F, Eckstein CE, Budavich R, Pultz JM, Donskey JC. Contamination of Hospital Curtains with Healthcare-Associated Pathogens. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2008; 29: 1074-6
- 43. Suzuki A, Namba Y, Matsuura M, Horisawa A. Bacterial contamination of floors and other surfaces in operating rooms: a five-year survey. *J Hyg* 1984; 93: 559-66.
- Ayliffe JAG, Collins JB, Lowbury IJE. Cleaning and Disinfection of Hospital Floors. *Brit Med J*, 1966; 2: 442-5.
- 45. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Healthcare Infection Control Advisory Committee. Guidelines for environmental infection control in healthcare facilities. Atlanta. 2003. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov</u>. Accessed April 10, 2009.
- 46. Ekhaise OF, Ighosewe UO, Ajakpovi DO. Hospital Indoor Airborne Microflora in Private and Government Owned Hospitals in Benin City, Nigeria. World Journal of Medical Sciences 2008; 3: 19-23.
- Kalliokoski P. Risks Caused by Airborne Microbes in Hospitals Source Control is Important. *Indoor Built Environ* 2003; 12: 41–6.

- Fisher G, Fodré S, Nehéz M. Das Ergebnis der Untersuchungen zur Feststellungs von Gesamtkeimzahl-Grenzwerten in der Luft von Operationsraumen. Z Ges Hyg 1972; 18: 729–33.
- Pasquarella C, Pitzurra O, Savino A. The index of microbial air contamination (review). J Hosp Infect 2000; 46: 241–56.
- 50. Suzuki A, Namba Y, Matsuura M, Horisawa A. Airborne contamination in an operating suite: report of a five-year survey. *J Hyg* 1984; 93: 567-73.
- 51. Oytayo VO, Ilori MR. Microbial quality and antibiotic sensitivity pattern of bacterial isolates from different sections of a stat specialist hospital. *Res J Microbiol* 2007; 2: 496-9.
- 52. British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy (BSAC). Hospital Acquired Pneumonia (HAP). Available at:

```
http://www.bsac.org.uk/ db/ documents/HAP_Treatment_Group_Considered_Judgemen
ts - Consultation_Document_.pdf accessed on: February 15, 2010.
```

- 53. CDC. Guideline for Disinfection and Sterilization in Healthcare Facilities. 2008. Atlanta. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/pdf/guidelines/Disinfection\_Nov\_2008.pdf</u> Accessed on: February 16, 2010.
- 54. Scottish Infection Standards and Strategy. Guidelines for the hospital management of methicillin-resistance *Staphylococcus aureus*. Available at: <u>http://www.rcpe.ac.uk/clinical-standards/documents/siss/SISS-MRSA-guidance.pdf</u> Accessed on: February 15, 2010.
- 55. Oie S, Suenaga S, Sawa A, Kamiya A. association between isolation sites of methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA)in patients with MRSA-positive bodies sites and MRSA contamination in their surrounding environmental surface. *Jpn J Infect Dis* 2007; 60: 367-9.
- 56. Jumaa AP. Hand hygiene: simple and complex. Int J Infect Dis 2005: 9: 3-14.
- 57. Carling CP, Parry MM, Rupp EM, John L, Dick B, Beheren VS. Improving Cleaning of the Environment Surrounding Patients in 36 Acute Care Hospitals. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2008; 29:1035-41.

- Hambraeus A, Bengtsson S, Laurell G. Bacterial contamination in a modern operating suite, 2. Effect of a zoning system on contamination of floors and other surfaces. *J Hyg Camb* 1978; 80: 57-67.
- 59. Hayden KM, Bonten MJM, Blom WD, Lyle AE, van de Vijver CMAD, Weinstein AR. Reduction in Acquisition of Vancomycin-Resistant *Enterococcus* after Enforcement of Routine Environmental Cleaning Measures. *Clin Infect Dis* 2006; 42: 1552–60.
- 60. Harris DA. How Important Is the Environment in the Emergence of Nosocomial Antimicrobial-Resistant Bacteria? *Clin Infect Dis* 2008; 46: 686–8.
- 61. Nada T, Baba H, Kumiko K, Ohkura T, Torii K, Ohta M. A small outbreak of third generation cephem-resistant *Citrobacter freundii* infection on a surgical ward. *Jpn J Infect Dis* 2004; 57: 181-2.
- 62. Colbeck JC. Environmental aspects of staphylococcal infections acquired in hospitals. *Am J Public Health* 1960; 50: 468–73.
- Beggs BC, Kerra GK, Snellin MA, Sleigh AP. *Acinetobacter* spp. and the Clinical Environment. *Indoor Built Environ* 2006; 15:19–24.
- 64. Ulger F, Esen S, Dilek A, Yanik K, Gunaydin M, Leblebicioglu H. Are we aware how contaminated our mobile phones with nosocomial pathogens? *Annals of Clinical Microbiology and Antimicrobials* 2009; 8: 7-11.
- 65. Falkiner RF, Keane TC, Dalton M, Clancy TM, Jacoby AG. Cross infection in a surgical ward caused by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* with transferable resistance to gentamicin and tobramycin. *J Clin Pathol* 1977; 30: 731-7.
- 66. Hobson RP, Mackenzie FM, Gould IM. An outbreak of multiply-resistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in the Grampian region of Scotland. *J Hosp Infect* 1996; 33: 249-62
- Beggs BC. The Airborne Transmission of Infection in Hospital Buildings: Fact or Fiction? *Indoor Built Environ* 2003; 12: 9–18.
- 68. Moran GJ, Amii RN, Abrahamian FM, Talan DA. Methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in community-acquired skin infections. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2005; 11: 928-30.
- 69. Scheider-Linder V, Delaney JA, Dial S, Dascal A. Antimicrobial drugs and communityacquired resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, United Kingdom. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2007; 13: 994-9.

- 70. Mohanty S, Singhal R, Sood S, Dhawan B, Kapil A, K. Das B. *Citrobacter* infections in a tertiary care hospital in Northern India. *J Infect* 2007; 54: 58-64.
- Paterson LD. Resistance in Gram-Negative Bacteria: Enterobacteriaceae. Am J Med 2006; 119: S20–S28.
- 72. Jones NR. Resistance Patterns among Nosocomial Pathogens-Trends over the past few Years. *CHEST* 2001; 119: 397S–404S.
- 73. Wolde Tenssay Z. Multiple antimicrobial resistance in bacterial isolates from clinical and environmental sources of Jimma Hospital, Southwest Ethiopia. *Ethiopian journal of science* 2002; 25: 295-302.
- 74. Rampling A, Wiseman S, Davis L, et al. Evidence that hospital hygiene is important in the control of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Hosp Infect* 2001; 49: 109–16.
- 75. Carling CP, Briggs LJ, Perkins J, Highlander D. Improved Cleaning of Patient Rooms Using a New Targeting Method. *Clin Infect Dis* 2006; 42:385–8.
- 76. Dancer JS, White FL, Lamb J, Girvan KE, Robertson C. Measuring the effect of enhanced cleaning in a UK hospital: a prospective cross-over study. *BMC Medicine* 2009; 7: 1-12.
- 77. Lynch JR, Englesbe JM, Sturm L. Measurement of Foot Traffic in the Operating Room: Implications for Infection Control. *Am J Med Qual* 2009; 24: 45-52.
- Humphreys H, Stacey RA, Taylor WE. Survey of operating theatres in Great Britain and Ireland. *J Hosp Infect* 1995; 30: 245-52.
- 79. A working group of the Scottish quality assurance specialist interest group. Guide lines on test methods for environmental monitoring for aseptic dispensing facilities. Scotland. 2004. Available at:

http://www.astcp.scot.nhs.uk/QASIG/environmental%20monitoring.pdf. Accessed on May 2, 2009.

- Favero SM, Mcdade JJ, Robertsen AJ, Hoffman KR, Edwards WR. Microbiological Sampling of Surfaces. *J appl Bact* 1968; 31: 336-43.
- Federal Ministry of Health. Infection prevention guidelines for Healthcare Facilities in Ethiopia. Addis Ababa. 2004. Available at:

http://www.etharc.org/publications/eth\_inf\_gdlines\_jul04.pdf. Accessed on: April 20, 2009.

- 82. Wood WM, Lund CR, Stevenson BK. Bacterial contamination of stethoscopes with antimicrobial diaphragm covers. *Am J Infect Control* 2007; 35: 263-6.
- 83. Deneke I. Assessment of Drinking Water Quality and Pollution Profiles along Awetu stream (Jimma) (unpublished research paper). Addis Ababa. 2006. Available at: <u>http://etd.aau.edu.et/dspace/bitstream/123456789/1854/1/Israel%20Deneke.pdf</u>. Accessed on: April 26, 2009.
- 84. CDC. Comprehensive Procedures for Collecting Environmental Samples for Culturing Bacillus anthracis. 2002. Atlanta. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/unp-envsamp.html</u>. Accessed on: May 2, 2009.
- 85. Sarica S, Asan A, Otkun TM, Ture M. Monitoring indoor airborne Fungi and bacteria in the different area of Trakya university hospital, Edirne, Turkey. *Indoor Built Environ* 2002; 11: 285-92.
- Kla´nova K. Hospital Indoor Environment: Screening for Micro-Organisms and Particulate Matter. *Indoor Built Environ* 2003; 12: 61–7.
- 87. Fasim F, Jamil N, Ahmed N. Comparative study of air born bacteria isolated from Karachi University. *Pakistan journal of biological sciences* 2003; 6: 644-7.
- Nunes GZ, Martins SA, Altoe FLA, Nishikawa MM, Leite OM, Aguiar FP, Fracalanzza LES. Indoor air microbiological evaluation of offices, hospitals, industries, and shopping centers. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz* 2005; 100: 351-7.
- 89. Cheesbrough M. District laboratory practice in tropical countries volume II: microbiology. Cambridge (UK). Page 1-479
- 90. WHO. Basic laboratory procedures in clinical bacteriology. Geneva. 1991. Available at: <a href="http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2003/9241545453.pdf">http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2003/9241545453.pdf</a> accessed on February 16, 2010
- 91. Turnidge J, Paterson LD. Setting and Revising Antibacterial Susceptibility Breakpoints. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2007; 20(3): 391–408.
- 92. Bauer AW, Kirby WMM, Sherris JC, Turck M. Antibiotic susceptibility testing by a standardized single disk method. *AM J Clin Pathol* 1966; 36: 493-6.

- 93. Kiehlbauch AJ, Hannett EG, Salfinger M, Archinal W, Monserrat C, Carlyn C. Use of the National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards Guidelines for Disk Diffusion Susceptibility Testing in New York State Laboratories. *J Clin Microbiol* 2000; 38: 3341–8.
- 94. National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility tests; fifth informational supplement. 5th ed. M100-S15; 25(1) Wayne, 2005.
- 95. Gebre-Sealssie S. Antimicrobial resistance patterns of clinical bacterial isolates in southwestern Ethiopia. *Ethiop Med J* 2007; 45: 1-8.
- Sudharsanam S, Srikanth P, Sheela M, Steinberg R. Study of the Indoor Air Quality in Hospitals in South Chennai, India –Microbial Profile. *Indoor Built Environ* 2008; 17: 435–41.
- 97. Wagenvoort THJ, Penders RJR, Davies IB, Lütticken R. Similar environmental survival patterns of *Streptococcus pyogenes* strains of different epidemiologic backgrounds and clinical severity. *Eur J Clin Microbiol & Infect Dis* 2005; 24: 65-7.
- 98. Katarzyna Pancer, Wlodzimierz Gut, Szymon Fila. Strains of *Enterobacter cloacae* Isolated in a Hospital Environment – Some Phenotypic and Genotypic Properties. *Indoor Built Environ* 2006; 15: 99–104.

# **ANNEX-I**

A survey format used for data collection in determining the degree of bacterial contamination of ORs and SWs environment and antibiotic susceptibility pattern of isolates at JUSH from October to January, 2009/2010 G.C

## **PART-I:** preliminary data

1. Code number			_											
2. Collection day	/	/	E.C. at	(time)										
3. Types of specimen co	ollected													
A. Surface samples (Flo	oor or Table Top)	B. Air san	nples											
4. The unit in which the	e sample is collected													
A. Critical Zone (OR-1	ermediate Zone (SCS,	diate Zone (SCS, FCR or MCR)												
C. Non-Critical Zone (SR, PR or SMS) D. SW-1 (Male room-1 or Female room- E. SW-2 (Male room-1 or Female room-1)														
5. Site of sample collection for SW units (for air samples)														
A. Corner of the room	B. Co	enter of the	room											
6. Site of sample collec	tion for Table Top su	urfaces in SV	Ws											
A. Bed side chair in SW	v room-1 (Female roo	om-1 or mal	e room-1)											
B. Bed side chair SW re	oom-2 (Female room	-2 or Male 1	coom-2)											
7. Site of sample collec	tion for floor surface	s (in SW un	its)											
A. Under bed in SW-1	(Male room-1 or Fei	nale room-1	)											
B. Under bed in SW-2	(Male room-2 or Fen	nale room-2)	)											
C. Free in SW-1 (Male	room-1 or Female ro	om-2)												
D. Free in SW-2 (Male	room-2 or Female ro	oom-2)												
8. The area in ORs in w	hich floor surface sa	mple is take	en											
A. Critical Zone	B. Intermediate Zon	e	C. Non-Critical Zone											

#### **PART-II: laboratory result**

9. Culture result

9.1. Number of colonies (in CFU/dm<sup>2</sup>/h for air samples and in CFU /cm<sup>2</sup> for housekeeping surface)

9.2. Bacterial species identified

10. Antibiotic susceptibility result

**Table 4**: A format used to collect data of antibiotic susceptibility result of bacterial isolates from hospital environment of JUSHfrom October to January, 2009/2010 G.C

N																																														
0								a				1.4		,				ß		• •••																										
	Susceptionity test results for different antibiotics																																													
	٨	m1		٨			C	ro		V	Г		C			C	f		F			C	N			v		D			т			C.	VT		v	0								
	A							A	Amp		Amp		Amp					КГ						U	CI		E	Ľ		CIN		UX			r						571			va		
	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R	S	Ι	R							
1																																														
2																																														
3																																														
4																																														
An	nl: A	Amo	oxic	illin				K	F: C	eph	alot	hin				E: Erythromycin P: Penicill							cilli	lin																						
An	np: 4	Am	pici	llin				C	Ch	lora	mpł	neni	col			CN: Gentamicin T: Tetracyc								cline Va: Vancomycin																						
Cro	: C	eftr	iaxo	one				Cf	: Ci	prof	loxa	acin				Ox:	Ox	acil	lin					SX	T: 1	[rim	etho	oprii	n-s	ulpł	nam	etho	oxaz	ole												
<b>≜</b> :	Ba	ict	eri	al i	sol	late	es t	est	ed	•	1.																																			
											2	•															-																			
											3	•																																		
											4	•															_																			
# **ANNEX-II**

# Air specimen collection procedure used using settle plate method<sup>49, 79, 80</sup>

- 1. The plates were examined for contamination prior to use.
- 2. The code number was written on the base of the plate (the part containing the culture media) with marker. The code number ranges from 001-108.
- 3. The plates were transported from microbiology laboratory to site of sample collection using clean box.
- The plates were placed one meter above the floor (using alcohol cleaned chairs which are 1 meter long) and one meter away from the wall with the lids still on.
- 5. During transporting and placing the plates in their appropriate site of sample collection, sterile surgical gloves, surgical clothing (when collecting in ORs) and face masks were used.
- 6. Lids were raised to expose the surface of the medium and were rested on the very edge of the plate so that the entire agar surface is completely exposed. The plates were supervised for the whole collection time (1 hour) to avoid passing anything over the top of plates being exposed.
- 7. After 1 hour of exposure, the lids of the plates were closed and transported in to microbiology laboratory using clean box for incubation.

# ANNEX-III

#### Specimen collection procedure used for housekeeping surfaces using swabs<sup>79, 80</sup>

- 1. The swab and the test tube were assembled with code number written on each tube. The code number ranges from 109-252.
- 2. The surface of sample collection site was checked to make sure that they are dry and free of any liquids.
- 3. Clean aluminum plate with a hallow area of  $25 \text{cm}^2$  was placed on the surface to be sampled.
- 4. The sample collection cotton swab was moistened with sterile nutrient broth.
- 5. The swab was rubbed by rotating it in the predetermined surface area within the aluminum plate holding the swab at a  $30^{\circ}$  angle to the contact surface.
- 6. The swab was inserted into a test tube containing 5ml nutrient broth.
- 7. Then the swab within the test tube was transported in to microbiology laboratory.

# **ANNEX-IV**

Type of antibiotics	Abbreviation	Disc content	Product of
Ampicillin	AML	10 µg	Hi-media Ltd♠
Ceftriaxone	CRO	30 µg	Oxoid Ltd <b>♣</b>
Cephalothin	KF	30 µg	Oxoid Ltd
Chloramphenicol	С	30 µg	Oxoid Ltd
Ciprofloxacin	Cf	5 µg	Hi-media Ltd
Erythromycin	E	15 μg	Oxoid Ltd
Gentamicin	CN	10 µg	Oxoid Ltd
Methicillin	Met	5 µg	Hi-media Ltd
Penicillin G	Р	10 IU	Oxoid Ltd
Tetracycline	Т	30 µg	Hi-media Ltd
Trimethoprim- sulphamethoxazole	SXT	1.25/23.75 μg	Oxoid Ltd
Oxacillin	Ox	1 µg	Hi-media Ltd
Vancomycin	VA	30 µg	Oxoid Ltd

**Table 8.2**. Panels of antibiotic discs that were used in the study for susceptibility testing

♠: Hi Media Company Limited, India

♣: Oxoid Ltd Basingstoke, Hampshire-UK

# **ANNEX-V**

**Table 8.3**. Air total bacterial count according to Fisher in different hospital environments (CFU on Petri dishes 9 cm in diameter with blood-agar left open to air according to the scheme 1/1/1)<sup>48,49</sup>

	Total microbial count (cfu//h)		
Place	Optimal	Acceptable	Unacceptable
Surgical ward units	0-250	251-450	> 451
ORs (when at rest)	0-4	5-8	> 9
ORs (when active)	0-60	61-90	> 91

# **Annex VI**

Pour Plate Technique procedure used in the study

- 1. The 5ml elution solution was mixed using vortex mixer to ensure homogenous distribution.
- 2. One ml suspension from the 5 ml elution solution was transferred into the sterile Petri dishes.
- 3. The plate count agar which were already prepared and placed at 50c° water bath was poured in to a plat having a 1 ml specimen
- 4. The Petri dish was covered and swirled clockwise and anti clockwise to mix the inoculated sample well
- 5. The Petri dish was inverted and incubated at 37  $c^{\circ}$  for 24 hour when the agar is set
- 6. The colonies in the plates were then counted and recorded

# DECLARATION

I, the undersigned, declare that this thesis is my original work, has not been presented for a degree in this or any other university and that all sources of materials used for the thesis have been dully acknowledged.

Name:

Chalachew Genet

Signature:

Date of submission:

Jimma, Ethiopia

This thesis has been submitted for examination with my approval as University advisor

Advisors

Name	Gebre Kibru (BSc, MSc)	Kannan Hemalatha (MSc, Ph.D)
Signature		
Date		
	Jimma, Ethiopia	Jimma, Ethiopia